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We are Alpha FX – a leading foreign 
exchange specialist helping businesses 
and institutions to manage their currency 
exposures more effectively and efficiently.

As a company, we are dedicated to generating exceptional growth and value for all 
our stakeholders, by fostering an exceptional community of talented individuals.

Whilst the following pages of this report will outline the Group’s strategy, we 
remain a culture first organisation – one that finds direction in strategy but 
is driven by people.  This approach has enabled us to deliver 10 consecutive 
years of profitable and organic revenue growth, and leading levels of client and 
employee satisfaction.
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HIGHLIGHTS  FINANCIAL

22.7p
(2017: 17.5p)

UNDERLYING BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE IN SUMMARY

21.8p
(2017: 14.2p)

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

6.5p
(2017: 4.9p)

TOTAL ANNUAL DIVIDEND PER SHARE

2018 was another very strong year for the 
business in which revenue grew by 73% to 
£23.5m (2017: 60% revenue growth to £13.5m). 
Growth has been driven by increasing client 
numbers both from the UK and overseas as well 
as the promising start made by the Institutional 
team that launched in March 2018. In the 
year ended 31 December 2018 there were no 
structural changes in forward commission rates 
in comparison to the prior year.

Underlying operating profit increased by 48% 
to £10.0m (2017: £6.8m) whilst on a reported 
basis operating profit was up 72% to £9.7m 
(2017: £5.6m). The year was one of continued 
investment in headcount in the Front 
Office with the expansion of the UK-based 
Corporate team as well as the launch of the 
Institutional and Canadian operations in the 
year. Investment also continued in the Back 
Office to support revenue growth and drive the 
technology agenda. 

£23.5m
(2017: £13.5m)

+73%

£10.0m
(2017: £6.8m)

+48%
UNDERLYING OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE TAX1

£9.7m
(2017: £5.6m)

+72%
OPERATING PROFIT

REVENUE

Financial Highlights
FY 2018

1 Underlying excludes the impact of the one-off costs relating to the IPO and non-cash share based payments.
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HIGHLIGHTS  OPERATIONAL

NEW PRODUCT

NEW OFFICE

Alpha opens 
office in 
Canada

Alpha Pay 
platform 
launched

In October we opened our new office in Toronto, 
focused on the Canadian market.

NEW DIVISION

Alpha Institutional 
launched

In March we launched our Institutional 
division, expanding our service offering to 
cover funds and institutions. 

In December we launched our international 
payments platform, Alpha Pay.

EMPLOYEE PARTNERS LONDON OFFICE

51%
Over 50% of employees are now Partners in the business.2

New HQ
We secured new premises at the Brunel 
Building in Paddington which will be ready 
for occupation in Q3 2019.

£20m
£20m of expansionary capital raised in 2018.

31
We have recruited 31 new people to join our team, 
taking our headcount to 82.

CAPITAL EXPANSION

CLIENTS INTERNATIONAL REACH

+55%
Increase in clients, from 310 to 482 in 2018.

+20
Revenue generated outside of the UK 
from clients in over 20 countries.

Operational Highlights
FY 2018

2  The Group defines a Partner as an employee who held an equity stake prior to the Company’s 

IPO; or is a participant in either the Group’s B or C growth share schemes; or owns shares 

directly in one of the Group’s trading subsidiaries. 
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About Alpha - we help businesses and 
institutions manage their currency 
exposures more effectively and efficiently.

Exchange rates are moving all the time.  A modest movement of just 1-2% can have 
a material impact on financial performance of businesses and institutions moving 
large amounts of currency around the world.  Indeed, annual volatility in GBP/USD has 
moved on average 15% each year over the past 30 years.

Alpha provides strategies, analysis and technology to help clients manage their currency 
exposures more effectively, whilst saving them time and resource.  We pair these 
solutions with a variety of transactional services, ranging from hedging products to 
international payments, providing a comprehensive solution for our clients’ foreign 
exchange needs.

Our people are key to Alpha’s leading approach – exceptional problem solvers who are 
able to deliver intelligent insights and solutions that put clients in control of complex 
currency exposures and unlock new efficiencies.

Importantly, we charge no consultancy costs or retainer fees, instead we monetise our 
service by generating a margin when executing transactions for clients.  By doing so, we 
are able to provide companies with invaluable consultancy and technology solutions, at 
no additional cost compared to their existing provider. 

COMPANY OVERVIEW  BUSINESS INTRODUCTION

   76
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Our Market - in an industry that typically 
turns over high volumes of clients, our 
focus remains on growing and retaining 
a high-quality client base to create strong 
and enduring mutual value.

Working across a wide range of industries, we support almost 500 businesses and 
institutions in more than 20 countries, the majority operating in the UK and Europe 
with turnovers typically ranging from £10m – £300m.  The stakeholders we support 
include, but are not limited to, Treasurers, CFOs, CEOs and Investment Managers.

Despite the diversity of our client base, all share one overarching challenge – the need 
to manage their currency exposures in a way that best supports their commercial and 
financial objectives.  Our role is to provide a service that empowers them to achieve 
this in a manner that supersedes existing offerings from traditional providers.

The currency market is the largest and most liquid market in the world and our 
market opportunity is both extensive and still growing.  Moving forward, we will 
continue to capitalise on opportunities that we believe show significant growth 
potential, whether through new product development or expansion into new 
markets.  To evidence this, in FY2018, we launched three new divisions: Alpha 
Institutional, Alpha Pay and Alpha Canada in Toronto.

COMPANY OVERVIEW  OUR CLIENTS

   98
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STRATEGIC REPORT  CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Matt’s appointment followed the promotion of Henry 
Lisney to the Board as Chief Operating Officer in March 
2018, providing the Board with a good balance of 
Executive and Non-Executive representation.

During the course of the year, we have been 
successful in attracting more highly talented and 
driven individuals, which is a reflection of the qualities 
valued by our founder-led management team. As we 
continue to develop and explore new markets, our 
growing, high quality team will provide us with the 
necessary bandwidth to scale the business to reach 
its full potential.

Fundraising
In October the Group raised a further £20 million of 
gross proceeds (pre-costs) through a placing with high 
quality institutional investors. The funds are required 
to facilitate ongoing growth of the business and I 
would like to thank all shareholders, new and existing, 
for their ongoing support.

Dividend
The Board has taken the decision to adapt its 
dividend policy to be progressive rather than 
following a prescribed formula. We believe this is 
more appropriate for the company at this stage of its 
development and gives us greater flexibility to balance 
our capital requirements for investing in the future. 
An interim dividend of 1.9p was paid in October and I 
am pleased to report that the Board is recommending 
a final dividend of 4.6p, giving a total dividend for the 
financial year of 6.5p, a 33% increase on the prior year.

Subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting on 10 May 2019, the final dividend 
will be paid on 15 May 2019 to shareholders on the 
register at 12 April 2019. The ex-dividend date will be 
11 April 2019.

The Year Ahead
Our strong performance to date demonstrates the 
appeal of our products and services in existing as well 
as new verticals and geographies.  We are presently 
barely scratching the surface of the Group’s potential, 

as our business volumes represent small proportions 
of every market in which we operate. Our new verticals 
and geographies increase the potential size of our 
addressable market further still and we will continue to 
invest accordingly to take full advantage of our growing 
market opportunity.

Q1 has begun well and with the dedication and focus 
of the high-quality team in place, I am looking forward 
to another year of continued progress in all areas of 
the business.

Clive Kahn
Non-Executive Chairman

“2018 was an excellent year for Alpha with the Group consistently 
outperforming expectations, leading to our inclusion into the FTSE 
AIM100 index at the end of the financial year.”

Chairman’s Statement
Clive Kahn

The opportunity for Alpha is strong and still growing, 
with the Group exploiting additional verticals and 
markets that share the same characteristics as our 
core UK and European corporate markets.  I’m pleased 
to be able to report on another strong financial 
performance with revenues up 73% against FY17.

Underlying operating profit was up 48%, even with 
increased investment in our infrastructure and cost 
base to support future growth, reflecting our strong 
financial governance.

Board & People
Alpha’s success continues to be built on the passion, 
commitment and vision of our people, reinforced by 
the strength of our culture.  On behalf of the Board, I 
would like to thank all our people for their contribution 
to Alpha’s success, and look forward to building on it 
in 2019.

In October, we welcomed Matthew Knowles to the 
Board as an Independent Non-Executive Director. 
Matt spent 19 years at HiFX, a business he co-founded, 
which provides international payment services to 
both corporate and retail clients. He brings with him a 
wealth of industry knowledge, both domestically and 
internationally, and the Board is already benefitting 
from his knowledge and experience.   

ALPHA FX GROUP PLC  ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FY2018
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BUSINESS MODEL  WHAT SETS US APART

What sets us apart – the foundations  
of our business are not uncommon, but 
the qualities of our people are rare.

Working in a competitive industry, we have grown strongly year on year since 
inception.  The fundamental drivers behind our growth (listed below) are relatively 
simple.  All businesses for example have their own people, culture, ownership 
structure, technology and finances.  However, it is how these resources are shaped 
and prioritised that determine the momentum they generate.

It is therefore the strength and uniqueness within each of the following areas that 
continues to set us apart as a business.

–  Talent
–  Culture
–  Clients
–  Technology
–  Collective Ownership
–  Financial Status

   1312
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Clients

We continue to grow our business in an industry that 
is generally volume-based, transactional and target 
driven, by building long-term relationships with a 
smaller number of high value clients, who we largely 
continue to retain year after year.

The strength of our retention allows us to remain 
focused on investing more time and resource into 
providing a superior service to clients, rather than 
stretching our resources across larger numbers of 
lower value businesses, and forcing us to compromise 
on the quality of our service.

KEY CHALLENGE:
ALIGNING INTERESTS

We place great focus on ensuring the interests of our 
clients and our team are aligned.  Over 50% of our 
team are Partners, with remuneration based on their 
long-term relationships with clients, not short-term 
results: we never set individual revenue targets 
per clients.

As we scale, it’s key our team’s interests remain aligned 
to our clients and we go to great lengths to ensure new 
employees understand this.  Integrity is everything at 
Alpha, and we will never tolerate an employee who 
knowingly generates revenue at the expense of a client.

BUSINESS MODEL  WHAT SETS US APART

Technology provides both Alpha and its clients with a 
smarter way of working, using cloud-based technology 
to empower our employees, processes and client 
services. Internally, we leverage proprietary software 
that enables us to work more efficiently, make more 
informed decisions, and therefore achieve greater 
output.  Externally, we provide our clients with online 
platform solutions covering payments, receivables, 
hedging programmes, FX reporting and execution.  
Like the solutions we build for ourselves, our online 
platform solutions are fundamentally designed to 
improve efficiencies and decision making.  This is 
achieved through a variety of means, including: the 
automation of processes and analysis, as well as the 
aggregation and translation of complex data into 
intuitive and insightful reports and visuals.  Ultimately, 
we ensure we remain at the forefront of our industry 
and continue to accelerate our momentum, by 
building leading edge solutions for both our clients 
and ourselves.

KEY CHALLENGE:
ROI – RETURN ON INNOVATION

Keeping up with the pace of innovation is important 
and the high-performance nature of our tech team 
ensures we are well placed to do so.  However, equally 
important is understanding what clients want and the 
problems they need solving.
 
In looking to achieve a competitive advantage from 
our technology, our biggest challenge is to not be 
drawn into innovation for innovation’s sake.  We 
instead focus on developing solutions that are the 
most relevant to our client base and therefore are the 
most likely to provide the highest ROI for all involved.

TechnologyTalent Culture

As the talent of a team increases, so too does its 
performance potential.  By investing significantly 
in our recruitment process and retaining our high 
standards, we ensure we have the foundations in 
place to achieve high levels of performance, both for 
ourselves and our clients.  

However, there are plenty of talented people within 
average businesses, as unless talent is empowered, 
inspired and given the environment and support to 
develop and grow, it will never realise its potential.  
This is why our culture, which empowers and drives 
our people, is key.

If talent determines a company’s performance potential, 
culture harnesses the potential and determines how far  
it progresses.

We recognise that the bigger we get and the faster we 
grow, the more important it is to have a robust culture.  
Guided by a shared set of behaviours and principles, as 
well as a clearly defined vision, mission and purpose, our 
culture is key to ensuring people get the most out of their 
potential, both for themselves and the business.  Our 
people work harder, develop faster, dream bigger and 
achieve more because of our culture.  

The result is exceptional levels of commitment and 
service innovation for our clients, delivered by people 
who are inspired by the opportunities they have and the 
team they work with.

KEY CHALLENGE: 
DILUTION OF CULTURE AND TALENT

As we scale and the business becomes more complex,  
the pressures of resource gaps, managing budgets, 
growth targets and external influence can all lead to 
cultural and talent compromises. 

Moving forward, we must continue to ensure we hire 
within our image and never compromise on our culture 
or talent.  Doing so will ensure we protect our cultural and 
talent density, maintain our competitive advantage  
as we scale, and continue to cultivate a place for 
exceptional people.

ALPHA FX GROUP PLC  ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FY2018
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One of the key differentials we perceived Alpha as being 
able to provide over other brokers was their portal. 
Developed in house and with resource dedicated to 
continue development bespoke to Halfords’ requirements, 
the results to date have been outstanding. 

Every request made has been considered and 
expectations have been constantly exceeded with each 
update released. Not all brokers are the same and I 
wouldn’t hesitate in recommending anyone 
to work with Alpha FX.”

“

Stuart Harvey
Head of Tax & Treasury

BUSINESS MODEL  WHAT SETS US APART

Alpha is a founder-led business with 51% of Directors 
and employees owning some form of equity interest 
in our Group (Partners).  We are also a business on 
a journey: we are here to create a company for the 
long-term and are fortunate enough not to have 
any predefined investment horizons. As a result, 
our commitment and teamwork go further than 
most - our people put the business first because they 
recognise what they do has (or will) directly affect 
them in the future.  This is also the reason everyone 
celebrates one another’s successes as if they were 
their own.

KEY CHALLENGE:
RETAINING OUR OPERATIONAL FREEDOM

In order to maintain the same level of collective 
ownership as we scale, we are committed to always 
providing people with the opportunity to work 
towards becoming a Partner, with new equity issued 
through performance-based growth share schemes.  
These schemes incentivise and reward employees for 
achieving exceptional results, which in turn translates 
into enhanced returns for shareholders.

Collective
Ownership

The strength of our balance sheet and capital position 
ensures we are able to continue investing in our 
business to support our growth.  

Our PLC status has unlocked a number of benefits. It 
provides a compelling story and public track record 
that allows us to differentiate ourselves and attract new 
clients, especially international businesses and larger 
corporates.  Furthermore, it has enabled us to onboard 
stronger blue-chip counterparties, negotiate better 
terms with our suppliers, and attract better talent.

Finally, as a PLC business with strong financial backing, 
the pressure to compromise or cut-corners in order to 
achieve short-term results is not a threat.  Instead, we 
can focus on growing our business in a way that will 
deliver long-term, sustainable growth.

Financial
Status

ALPHA FX GROUP PLC  ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FY2018
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How we deliver – we have a simple but 
effective process for maintaining our points 
of difference and creating long-term value  
for all our stakeholders.

Pages 13-16 outline the areas of our business that set us apart from our 
competition.  However, retaining these points of difference and transforming them 
into business growth requires a process.

The following pages breakdown how our business works – from finding the right 
people, to ensuring those people have the infrastructure and support to deliver 
value to and retain our clients.

–  We identify our people
–  We develop our people
–  We focus on retaining our people
–  We deliver a superior service
–  We aim to retain existing clients and win new ones
–  We expand into new markets
–  Our technology is leading edge not bleeding edge
–  We deliver value for our stakeholders

BUSINESS MODEL  HOW WE DELIVER

   1918
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BUSINESS MODEL  HOW WE DELIVER

Once we have found the right people, we work hard to 
ensure they want to remain with us.
 
We recognise businesses lose employees for four 
primary reasons: they would prefer to work with 
other people in another environment; they perceive 
better opportunities at other companies; they are 
not testing their abilities; and/or they lack the desired 
work-life balance.
 
We believe our company purpose addresses these four 
issues, which is why we base our retention strategy 
around it.  By providing an exceptional community 
full of opportunity, that works hard but lives well, we 
ensure that our people have every reason to stay and 
little reason to go.

We focus on retaining
our people

We deliver a superior 
service

When it comes to providing a leading service, we 
passionately believe there are two things that matter 
more than anything else – people and culture.  The 
reason for this is simple: people and cultures grow, 
USPs shrink. The quality of our service stems from 
the quality of the people behind the service and the 
culture they share.  Our ‘client first’ culture means 
that we never set individual revenue targets per 
clients, as it creates a clear conflict of commercial 
interests.  Instead, we focus on ensuring our people’s 
interests are aligned with our clients. 

Furthermore, we’ve made over half our team 
Partners and created simple commission structures 
that support our team’s desire to focus on long-term 
relationships with clients.  This avoids a ‘churn and 
burn’ mentality, which is often the default strategy in 
highly competitive industries.

2017: Company moves from Reading to temporary 
offices in Paddington

2018: Henry Lisney joins the Board as COO

We look for high-calibre people who can add to our 
culture.  We’ve interviewed thousands of candidates to 
get to the size we are today and will continue to retain 
our high standards in order to maintain our talent and 
cultural density as we scale. When a business grows 
in size and becomes more complex, there is always 
a risk its culture and talent density will be diluted. 
Amongst other things, a lack of a clear organisational 
identity and resource pressures can lead businesses 
to compromise on their standards: people are hired 
who are not only less talented, but also less culturally 
compatible.  To combat this, we must ensure our 
investment in recruitment, people and culture is 
commensurate to the company’s growth, so we can 
continually maintain our talent and cultural density as 
we scale.

Ultimately, we fully accept that our culture isn’t 
for everyone.  However, the moment we appeal to 
everyone and dilute our standards is the moment we 
become an ordinary business by default.
 

We identify
our people

Once we have found the right people, our focus is on 
ensuring they maximise their potential.
 
We believe that high-performing people develop 
organically: they are self-improving and self-managing 
through experience, observation, reflection, reading 
and discussion.

To support this development style, we’ve worked hard 
to foster an environment built around collaborative 
mentorship: one where everyone at Alpha has the 
opportunity to develop and be developed by other 
people.  This manifests itself in a number of ways.  
For example, our flat hierarchy means that everyone 
from Board Directors to new starters sit amongst 
one another, whilst our principle of radical candour 
ensures both are just as likely to give candid feedback 
to one another on how to improve. Collective 
ownership meanwhile ensures people are generous 
with their time: everyone is invested in the long-term 
growth of the company and recognises one another’s 
development is key to it.

Ultimately, our collaborative development style works 
because of our commitment to surrounding great 
people with great people.

We develop
our people

2017: Company lists on the London Stock Exchange 
as Alpha FX Group PLC

2017: Company launches its new brand identity

2017: European Desk established

ALPHA TIMELINE SINCE IPO
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2018: Alpha Pay platform launched

Our strategy is to monitor trends within our industry 
and assess their commercial viability. We step back 
from the bleeding edge of product innovation, 
recognising that the first to market risk being the first 
to fail. Products that are deemed as having strong 
upside and affinity with our client base are then taken 
into development where our high-performance tech 
team are able to quickly develop an upgraded solution.  
They then benefit from the momentum of our sales 
team to realise a strong second-mover advantage.

Ultimately, our strategy of ‘moving second to come 
first’ is a more sustainable way of growing our 
business.  It ensures more consistent returns for our 
shareholders, whilst keeping us on the leading edge, 
but not the bleeding edge, of the innovation curve.

Our technology is leading 
edge, not bleeding edge

BUSINESS MODEL  HOW WE DELIVER

Our Clients
We deliver an exceptional level of service to our clients, 
combining leading knowledge and expertise, with a 
philosophy that puts their needs firsts.  The value 
clients get from this service is reflected in our growth 
and strong levels of client satisfaction.

Our Shareholders
Our vision is to provide long-term, sustainable 
shareholder value by delivering revenue growth, strong 
operating margins and cash returns.

Our People
We exist to provide an exceptional community full of 
opportunity, that works hard but lives well.  By doing 
so, we ensure our people’s efforts and contributions 
are properly rewarded, and that they love the business 
they are a part of and the work they do.

We deliver value for  
our stakeholders

2018: Alpha joins FTSE AIM 100

2019: Move to new offices in Paddington

We aim to retain existing 
clients and win new ones

By penetrating both new and existing markets we
win more clients. We then aim to retain these clients, 
whilst increasing our wallet share, by constantly 
evolving our service and earning loyalty and trust.

The currency market is the largest and most liquid 
market in the world and our market opportunity 
is both extensive and growing. In addition to 
supporting corporates and institutions within our 
core UK market, we now support the FX needs of 
businesses in over 20 countries. Moving forward, 
we will continue to capitalise on opportunities that 
we believe represent significant opportunities for 
growth, whether through new product development 
or expansion into new jurisdictions.

To evidence this, in FY2018, we launched three new 
divisions: Alpha Institutional, Alpha Pay and Alpha 
Canada in Toronto.

We recognise that as well as continuing our 
penetration within our core corporate market, 
there are other segments both domestically and 
internationally that share similar characteristics, which 
we believe represent significant opportunities for 
growth, as demonstrated by the recent launch of Alpha 
Institutional, Alpha Payments and Alpha Canada.

When looking at new sectors, our strategy is to 
find or nurture entrepreneurial talent with the 
experience or ability to capitalise on those sectors.  
We then empower these individuals with our culture, 
infrastructure, reputation and technology, enabling 
them to take the Alpha platform into new markets 
as shareholders in their own ventures.  By doing 
so, these individuals realise accelerated returns for 
both themselves and the Group, whilst fulfilling their 
ambitions of leading their own ventures.  We call this 
strategy ‘same team, different markets’.

We expand into 
new markets

2018: Alpha Institutional launched 2018: Matthew Knowles, former CEO of HiFX
joins The Board as Non-Exec Director

ALPHA TIMELINE SINCE IPO

2018: Alpha Canada launched
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Market Opportunity 
Whilst we continue to represent less than 1% of 
the UK corporate market the successful move into 
new geographies is strategically important for 
our ambitions and provides an even larger total 
addressable market. The sales performance this 
year has demonstrated that accessing the European 
market from a UK base is more than viable and that 
both the UK and Europe continue to represent huge 
opportunities for sustained, long-term growth. As a 
result of the growth in international business, we have 
consequently seen a diversification in the range of 
currencies being traded.

New Products and Divisions
The derivatives products that were launched in August 
2017 have already proved valuable to a number of 
clients, achieving revenues in excess of £1m. Providing 
derivatives has enabled us to service a proportion 
of clients with more complex exposures and is 
an example of how at Alpha we are able to tailor 
our approach to ensure we cater effectively to the 
individual needs of all our clients.

In March 2018 we launched the Institutional division, 
the first time that we had utilised our subsidiary 
model to attract a highly talented team by rewarding 
them through performance-based equity incentive 
mechanisms aligning their interests to the Group. The 
Institutional team has grown from 5 at inception to 7 
employees at the year-end. The performance has been 
ahead of our expectations in its first year. 

Our Canadian office was launched in October 2018 
following careful market analysis and a successful 
trial period of penetrating the market from the UK.  
We set up an office in Toronto due to the significant 
time difference and the initial signs are encouraging, 
with revenue generating clients already onboarded 
in the first quarter of 2019. At the year-end the team 
consisted of 5 individuals who are familiar with the 
local market but, importantly, are also engrained 
with the Alpha philosophy and culture. The Canadian 
operation has also been incorporated as a subsidiary 
along similar lines to the Institutional division.

Technology
Technology remains important to the continued 
success of the Group. We have invested strategically 
in this area during 2018 and will continue to do so in 
the current financial year in order to drive operational 
efficiencies and deliver revenue growth opportunities. 
As our offering broadens to meet evolving customer 
requirements, the underlying technology needs 
to become ever more sophisticated to deliver the 
required outcomes. By leveraging cloud-based systems 
early on we have been able to customise our platform 
to the bespoke needs of our customers, allowing the 
freedom and agility to adapt and improve our systems 
without having to remedy significant legacy issues. 

An important technological development in the 
year has been the launch of Alpha Pay, an online 
international payments platform designed to reduce 
the time, cost and administrative burden of making 
cross-border payments and receiving international 
receipts, by providing a simpler, faster and more 
reliable solution. The market reaction to Alpha Pay 
has been very positive and over 25 clients are already 
transacting regularly, despite the platform only 
launching at the end of 2018. 

People and Culture
In the second half of the year Adam Dowling joined 
Alpha as Managing Director of Alpha Pay, having 
spent more than 15 years working in payments and 
receivables, most recently as Director of Product at Saxo 
Payments, an innovative financial technology company, 
and prior to this as Vice President of Cash Management 
at Barclays. His appointment is a further example of 
Alpha’s growing reputation.  Adam’s expertise will 
enable us to maximise the potential for Alpha Pay by 
opening it up to a wider audience in the future.

In March 2018 we welcomed Henry Lisney to the Board 
of Directors as Chief Operating Officer. Henry has been 
with the business since 2013 progressing through a 
variety of different roles and his knowledge of our 
markets and understanding of the right products and 
technology to serve them best has already proved 
invaluable.  Henry’s contribution has enabled me to 

STRATEGIC REPORT  CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT

“I would like to thank all of our employees for their ongoing dedication 
as well as our shareholders for supporting us in building a high-
performance business that is delivering exceptional opportunities for 
all of our stakeholders.”  

Chief Executive’s Statement
Morgan Tillbrook

2018 was another excellent year for Alpha. We saw 
strong revenue growth and strong levels of profitability, 
particularly given our increased cost base and investment 
in infrastructure throughout the year, designed to deliver 
further growth. 

During 2018 we increased our client numbers by 55%, 
bringing our total number of clients to 482.  We also 
grew revenue by 73%. This performance continued to 
be spearheaded by the core UK corporate market and 
by increasing penetration into European markets being 
serviced from our London headquarters.  One of the most 
pleasing aspects has been the impact of the investments 
made in the previous year, highlighting the strength of our 
strategy and execution. These included broadening our 
product base and investing in service delivery to ensure 
that our existing clients could grow with us, investing 
in infrastructure and technology to provide the right 
platforms for scalable growth, and attracting new talent 
to exploit new market segments. The returns that we are 
seeing give us great confidence in our continuing planned 
investment. Headcount in the year has grown from 51 to 
82, with resources added to all areas of both Front and 
Back Office.

ALPHA FX GROUP PLC  ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FY2018
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STRATEGIC REPORT  CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT

Alpha have proved unique in their approach and expertise, 
taking the time to understand the complexities of our 
business and formulate a bespoke hedging model to meet 
our objectives. Along with their market insight and level of 
personal service, I have found them to be a valued partner in 
the management of our foreign exchange.  ”

“

Chris Keen
CFO NBTY Europe

STRATEGIC REPORT  CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT

concentrate further on the people and the culture 
within Alpha, which remain the bedrock of our success 
and the key to our continued out-performance.

Our move to London in December 2017 has proved to 
be a considerable success.  It has enabled us to attract 
8 members of staff who are fluent in foreign languages 
and have been integral to the significant growth in the 
number of European companies that we are able to 
service from our UK headquarters.  Having spent the 
last year in temporary offices in Paddington, we are 
now looking forward to moving to our new permanent 
office at Paddington Basin, designed to create an 
environment that reflects and supports our culture.

Our status as a PLC has proved to be a significant 
catalyst in attracting, motivating and retaining the 
very best talent. As well as helping us to incentivise 
staff in our core business, it has allowed us to launch 
new businesses through subsidiaries, within which, 
employees hold a minority stake.  The success of 
this approach is already being evidenced by our 
Institutional division and early success in Canada.  
We expect this model to be replicated in additional 
areas in the future.

Investment in our Team 
It is important we continue to refine and develop our 
culture in order to retain the highly talented individuals 
we have brought into Alpha.  I believe that we have 
made great strides in this respect over the past twelve 
months.  Investing in people will always be a priority 
and takes precedence over chasing short-term profits 
as it provides the platform for long-term sustainable  
growth and differentiates us from our competitors. We 
have invested time and effort in codifying our culture 
in order to promote the behaviours and principles that 
we must all strive to maintain as we continue to grow 
and evolve. By focusing on our culture, Alpha can best 
realise its growth ambitions without ever losing the 
agile, dynamic nature that has already got us this far. 

We have created an environment that challenges each 
individual to expect more of themselves and rewards 
them accordingly. Alpha has been built on meritocracy 
and the performance of the Group to date is a 
reflection of each individual’s ability to contribute and 
share in the collective success.

I would like to thank all of our employees for their 
ongoing dedication as well as our shareholders for 
their continued support and for sharing our vision of 
building an exceptional culture capable of delivering 
sustained growth.  Moving forward, we will continue 
to stay true to our purpose of being an exceptional 
community full of opportunity that works hard, but 
lives well. Whilst this may seem like an internal facing 
statement, the reason for this is simple: we believe the 
quality of a business and the service it provides is a by-
product of its people and culture. Get this right and, as 
our growth to date has shown, the results will follow.

Morgan Tillbrook
Chief Executive Officer
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Our Strategy is simple and focused – whilst 
strategy provides our business with direction, 
people and culture continue to drive our 
performance.

The biggest drivers of Alpha’s success are our people and culture and we invest 
considerable amounts of time and resource into making sure we attract, develop 
and retain the right people.  With a highly capable and motivated team in place, we 
then have a clear strategy upon which to continue our growth trajectory. The key 
KPIs that the Group use to manage the business performance are shown in our 
Business Highlights on pages 2 to 5.

Alpha has a broad range of clients, which typically utilise Alpha’s service offering 
every year.  By growing the volume and value of our client relationships, we have 
been able to benefit from recurring revenue streams and high revenue visibility.  
New clients typically provide incremental revenue over the years of the relationship.  
Typically, as the client relationship matures, clients will utilise more of Alpha’s 
services and products, resulting in increased spend over time. As a Group, we intend 
to continue Alpha’s growth through the following strategies:

–  Acquire new clients
–  Retain existing clients and increase share of their spend 
–  Develop our service offering
–  Maintain our talent and cultural density
–  Build scale and efficiencies

COMPANY OVERVIEW  BUSINESS STRATEGY
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COMPANY OVERVIEW  BUSINESS STRATEGY

PROGRESS TO DATE

 − Total number of clients increased from 310 to 482 during the year, representing an increase of 55%.

 − To accelerate the rate of client acquisition, Front Office headcount has increased from 32 to 51.  
The European Front Office team has grown to 8 multi-lingual Front Office staff based in London with 
considerable success in acquiring new clients overseas during the year.

 − Client acquisition is ahead of expectations, as Alpha’s service offering is being well received by funds  
and institutions, who are being serviced by the Group’s new Institutional division.

 − Canadian subsidiary established with a team of 5 based in Toronto, and clients already onboarded.   
The team is led by Mark Stuart, former Sales Director of corporate FX provider Global Reach Group.

 − FX Analysis team has grown to 3 people, providing ever more comprehensive and detailed analysis on 
hedging programmes.  Analysis has also been further enhanced by upgrades to our online platform.

 − Three new regulatory licences obtained during 2018 will enable us to significantly enhance our online 
platform offering in 2019 and beyond, whilst future proofing the business.  Alpha was one of only 27 
firms in the UK to receive PIS permissions, and these new licences provide us with the opportunity to  
be at the leading edge of the innovation curve in our industry.  

 − Alpha Pay, our online international payments module, has already been launched and is gaining traction.

 − As well as further investment in our proprietary online platform, we continue to look at services and 
products which are banking dominated and have strong synergies with our core competencies -  
a combination that represents a significant market opportunity.

 − Service Delivery team established in 2017 has grown with excellent client feedback and increasing levels 
of client engagement.  The team was established to ensure our clients continue to receive a dedicated 
and high-touch level of service as we scale.

 − Oversubscribed placing in October 2018 raising £20 million additional capital, has enabled us to enter 
more trades with our client base and increase wallet share.

 − We continue to enhance our online platform offering and develop bespoke solutions for clients, to 
provide ever-increasing value as time goes on.

 − New banking counterparties have enabled us to increase the range of currencies we can offer.

Business Strategy

We will continue to grow our client base by penetrating further into 
the corporate and institutional markets, alongside expansion into 
new markets and developing our products and services to cater for 
a wider range of client needs.

We are constantly innovating to ensure we have a differentiated 
and valuable service offering, which will help us win clients and 
then retain them.

Acquire new clients

We develop our service 
offering to continue providing 
a superior service

We will continue to retain our clients by ensuring we can always  
service and anticipate their needs.

Retain existing clients and 
increase share of their spend

AREA STRATEGY
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COMPANY OVERVIEW  BUSINESS STRATEGY

PROGRESS TO DATE

 − Employee Engagement team formed, focused on supporting and developing the Group’s reputation as 
an employer, recruitment strategy, and culture.

 − Group published its mission, vision and purpose, as well as five core Behaviours, and operational 
Principles.  All were developed in close consultation with employees.

 − The Group’s growth share scheme continues to provide committed and high performing employees with 
the opportunity to own equity in the Group.  It is creating a business of owners and remains a key part of 
the entrepreneurial and high-performance mentality that drives our growth. 

 − Investment made in new permanent Paddington headquarters following success of move to temporary 
offices in London. We expect to move in Q3 2019.

 − Success of Alpha’s subsidiary model highlights the power of Alpha’s high-performance culture, and 
provides strong opportunity to expand into further territories that share similar market dynamics.

 − Success of the Institutional division demonstrates our ability to attract entrepreneurial talent and 
penetrate new markets through our subsidiary model, with low levels of outlay and risk. 

 − We continue to develop our online platform and infrastructure, and the proprietary nature of our 
technology means that improvements and additional functionality are being achieved without the 
hinderance of legacy issues.  

 − We continue to make significant strides with our internal technologies, to ensure we reduce operational 
complexity as we scale.  This is enabling us to improve efficiencies, and maintain our strong margins.

 − Our Back Office headcount grew by 12 people, in anticipation of further client acquisition, providing further 
scope to scale and ensuring excellent service levels upon engagement.

Henry Lisney
Chief Operating Officer

Business Strategy [cont.]

People and culture are the lifeblood of our business.  As the Group 
continues to grow, we remain focused on hiring and retaining high-
performing individuals who will add to our culture.

We identify, develop and 
retain the right people

We will continue to ensure our core service offering and infrastructure 
remain agile in order that we can maintain an ever-evolving foundation 
upon which to scale and drive efficiencies.

Build scale and efficiencies

AREA STRATEGY
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STRATEGIC REPORT  FINANCIAL REVIEW

* Included in ‘other payables’ within ‘trade and other payables’

** Excluding collateral received from clients, early settlements and the unrealised mark to market profit or loss from client swaps

The table below presents the operating cash conversion on a similar basis, which excludes collateral received from clients, early 
settlements and the unrealised mark to market profit or loss from client swaps. Cash conversion for the year ended 31 December 
2018 increased to 73% from 47% in the prior year. The increase is due to a higher proportion of trades being derived from 
spot and options transactions (see note 4 to the Financial Statements) where the revenue is immediately converted into cash, 
together with the average tenure of forward trades for the Institutional business being less than that for the Corporate business.

It is anticipated that the cash conversion will reduce in 2019 due to the impact of an increase in capitalised costs relating to the 
office move and the capitalisation of technology projects.

** Excluding collateral received from clients, early settlements and the unrealised mark to market profit or loss from client swaps

Dividend 
At the time of the IPO, the Board announced a target dividend policy of approximately 30% of the Group’s underlying profits 
after tax in each financial year. In line with this dividend policy and following the payment of the interim dividend of 1.9 pence 
per share in October 2018, the Board is pleased to declare a maiden final dividend of 4.6 pence per share, equating to an annual 
payment of 6.5 pence per share (2017: 4.9p).  Subject to shareholder approval, the final dividend will be payable to Shareholders 
on the register as at 12 April 2019 and will be paid on 15 May 2019. The ex-dividend date is 11 April 2019.

Management believe there are numerous investment opportunities for the Group that will deliver significant and sustainable 
future return to shareholders. Accordingly, with effect from the start of the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group intends 
to adopt a progressive dividend policy, targeted at growing dividends each year, rather than basing a dividend paid on a fixed 
percentage of profits.  

31 DECEMBER 2018
 £’000 

31 DECEMBER 2017 
£’000 

Net cash and cash equivalents
Variation margin paid to banking counterparties

38,396
3,539

13,073
3,517

41,935 16,590

Margin received from clients & client held funds* (11,424) (4,036)

Net MTM timing loss/(profit) from client drawdowns and 
extensions within trade receivables 5,208 1,102

Adjusted net cash** 35,719 13,656         

YEAR ENDED  
31 DECEMBER 2018 

£’000

YEAR ENDED  
31 DECEMBER 2017 

£’000

Underlying operating profit 10,005 6,754 

Depreciation & amortisation 174 101

Loss on sale of fixed assets 63 26

Increase in debtors** (3,713) (3,702)

Increase in creditors** 1,299 226

Less capital expenditure (526) (223)

Cash from operations before tax, and after capex** 7,302 3,172

Conversion 73% 47% 

Financial Review
FY 2018

During the year total headcount increased from 51 to 82. 
Due to the continued investment, the Group delivered an 
underlying operating profit margin of 43% (2017: 50%).

The effective rate of taxation for 2018 was 20%. This is 
slightly higher than the standard rate primarily due to 
start-up losses of the Canadian business.
 
Underlying basic earnings per share that excludes share-
based payments and the related deferred tax impact on 
them, increased from 17.5p in 2017 to 22.7p in 2018. 
Basic earnings per share increased from 14.2p in 2017 to 
21.8p in 2018.
 
On 3 October 2018, the Group announced that it had 
completed a £20m share placing to capitalise on current 
growth opportunities by the issue of 3,218,602 new 
shares, raising net £19.2m after expenses. 

In November 2018 the Group signed a lease for 
new premises for its Head Office in Paddington. It is 
anticipated that the Group will relocate from its existing 
temporary office in mid-2019 following the completion 
and fit-out of the new building.

Cash flow
On a statutory basis, net cash and cash equivalents 
increased by £25.3m to £38.4m. However, the Group’s 
cash position can fluctuate significantly from year to 
year due to: the impact of changes in the collateral 
received from clients, early settlement of trades, or the 
unrealised mark to market profit or loss from client 
swaps, resulting in an increase or decrease in cash with 
a corresponding change in other payables and trade 
receivables. Therefore, in addition to the statutory cash 
flow, the Group presents an adjusted net cash summary 
below which excludes the above items. In the year ended 
31 December 2018 net cash on the non-statutory basis 
increased by £22.0m to £35.7m, largely due to proceeds 
of the placing.

Financial Review
2018 was another very strong year for the business 
in which revenue grew by 73% to £23.5m (2017: 60% 
revenue growth to £13.5m). Growth has been driven 
by increasing client numbers both from the UK and 
overseas as well as the promising start made by the 
Institutional team that launched in March 2018. In 
the year ended 31 December 2018 there were no 
structural changes in forward commission rates in 
comparison to the prior year.

Underlying operating profit increased by 48% to £10.0m 
(2017: £6.8m) whilst on a reported basis operating 
profit was up 72% to £9.7m (2017: £5.6m). The year 
was one of continued investment in headcount in 
the Front Office with the expansion of the UK-based 
Corporate team as well as the launch of the Institutional 
and Canadian operations in the year. Investment also 
continued in the Back Office to support revenue growth 
and drive the technology agenda. 

Tim Kidd
Chief Financial Officer
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STRATEGIC REPORT  RISK MANAGEMENT

Principle Risks and Uncertainties

The Board is responsible for identifying, assessing and managing risk.   
Our entire business approach is linked to our company vision and purpose 
and this can only be achieved through effective risk management.

All risks are identified on the risk register and this is reviewed at bi-annual risk 
committee meetings to ensure the Group’s risk management is aligned  
to the business’ strategic objectives.  

However, the Board’s consideration of risk matters is not limited to these 
occasions and the Board regularly reviews risks facing the Group when 
making decisions about the business and strategy, recognising that the 
nature and scope of risks may change.
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STRATEGIC REPORT  RISK MANAGEMENT

RISK MITIGATION

This risk is mitigated by maintaining robust network perimeter defences, continual data backup, and the use of 
a secure end-to-end CRM system and online platform. Additionally, a robust IT security policy is supported by 
penetration testing as well as regular training for all members of staff.

The Group maintains robust policies and procedures, systems and controls, and monitoring and assurance 
programmes to ensure continued compliance with its regulatory obligations. Alongside this, the Group engages 
the services of independent compliance consultancies to review its compliance with regulatory requirements.  
The Group’s compliance function has a direct reporting line into the Audit Committee of the PLC. 

A report on the Group’s arrangements for managing compliance risk is presented to the Board on an annual 
basis. A compliance update is also provided at the Group’s Board meetings on a regular basis.

The impact of Brexit is being monitored and in the event of a hard Brexit, the Group have a plan designed to 
limit its impact.

Alpha has a credit policy in place to mitigate any potential losses arising from a client failing to settle. More 
specifically, Alpha assesses the creditworthiness of clients and establishes credit limits (typically 3% to 5%) when 
extending hedging facilities which are reviewed by senior management according to thresholds set out in a 
delegated authority matrix. In addition, Alpha reserves the right to request an additional deposit when those 
limits are reached.

Principle Risks and Uncertainties
The key strategic risks and uncertainties that the Directors 
consider could impact the business are set out below.

The Group faces the risk of its operating systems failing, as well as the 
failure to safeguard the business-critical data and systems against cyber 
security risks. As a result, the Group may become unable to carry out its 
business activities resulting in a financial and reputational loss, as well as 
the potential for regulatory sanctions. 

The Group faces the risk of failing to adhere to its regulatory and legal 
requirements. The provision of the Group’s services falls within various 
regulatory spheres, including the UK Money Laundering Regulations 2017, 
the Payment Services Regulations 2009, the UK Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000, the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID), 
and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) enforced by the 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). 

IT and Cyber Security Risk

Regulatory Risk

Alpha is exposed to credit risk if a client fails to deliver currency at 
maturity of the contract or fails to deposit margin when a margin call is 
made.  Alpha’s credit risk is equal to the fair value of the contract at the 
time of cancellation.

Credit Risk 

RISK CATEGORY POTENTIAL IMPACT
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STRATEGIC REPORT  RISK MANAGEMENT

RISK MITIGATION

Alpha operates a matched-principal brokerage model, meaning it immediately executes a matching trade 
with its banking counterparties on receipt of client orders.  The Group has facilities with several banking 
counterparties.  These facilities enable the Group to book foreign exchange contracts on behalf of its clients.  
The banking counterparties mark-to-market (“MTM”) all of the Group’s foreign exchange contracts at the end 
of each business day. To calculate the level of margin required, the Group’s banking counterparties MTM the 
Group’s net currency positions (meaning foreign exchange positions favourably affected by market movements 
are offset against those adversely affected). 

As a result, the Group is able to benefit from exchange rate movements when it has positions on both sides 
of the market (e.g. a depreciation in the Euro will negatively impact the Group’s long Euro positions, but at 
the same time benefit its Euro short positions). This results in a net claim payable to (or claim on) the banking 
counterparties. If a net claim is payable, the Group is required to deposit margin with its banking counterparties 
on the following business day. 

The Group funds margin due to its banking counterparties through requiring margin from its clients (“margin 
calls”) in addition to funding from its own resources. Management review forecasts and actual cash flows on 
a regular basis to determine whether the Group has sufficient cash reserves to meet future working capital 
requirements and to take advantage of business opportunities. The Group further benefits from the fact it has 
to fund its net FX exposure with its banking counterparties (i.e. if two clients make equal and opposing trades 
simultaneously its exposure is nil), yet can require margin from its clients on a gross basis.

Principle Risks and Uncertainties [cont.]

Liquidity risk arises if the Group is unable to meet its financial obligations 
when due. For example, if the Group is unable to meet a deposit margin 
required by its banking counterparties, this could lead to the Group 
becoming unable or restricted in its ability to meet trading capital 
requirements which in turn could result in the ability of its banking 
counterparties to terminate the financing facilities with the Group.

Liquidity Risk 

RISK CATEGORY POTENTIAL IMPACT
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The Group minimises ‘Fat Finger’ errors through daily reconciliations of all account balances, meaning any trade 
error or instances of inaccuracy should be identified very quickly after the event. Where an error has been 
identified, it is the Group’s policy to immediately cancel the trade through booking an equal and opposite trade 
(in order to reverse the original contract). 

The Group also maintains a strict division between Front and Back Office functions to ensure Back Office 
remain independent and attentive to any errors that may have been caused by Front Office. Internal fraud is 
minimised through investment in compliance resource and functions, DBS screening all Back Office individuals, 
maintaining strict delegated authority limits, segregation of duties and regular monitoring and oversight across 
different management functions. The Group also maintains a whistleblowing policy, which is communicated to 
all members of staff.

To mitigate this risk, the Group continues to value the contribution made by its key executives and reward them 
accordingly. The Group operates cross functional input and knowledge sharing, and there is a detailed business 
continuity plan in the event of a disruption. The Group also has a key person insurance policy in place.  All key 
management have entered into service contracts which provide notice periods for the Group’s protection.

This risk is mitigated by ongoing internal reviews and reconciliation carried out by qualified and experienced 
members of staff and the oversight of the Audit Committee.

STRATEGIC REPORT  RISK MANAGEMENT

RISK MITIGATION

The Group is subject to the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or  
failed internal processes, people, systems or external events. This can 
include so-called ‘Fat Finger’ errors: the incorrect inputting or execution of 
a trade (either into the Group’s reporting software or to one of the Group’s  
banking counterparties), as well as internal fraud e.g. intentional  
misreporting of positions, employee thefts, and insider trading on an 
employee’s own account. 

The Group’s success is linked to the efforts and abilities of key personnel 
and its capacity to retain such personnel. The executive management 
team has significant experience in the industry and has made an  
important contribution to the Group’s growth and success. The loss of  
any member of the executive management team may have an adverse 
effect on the operations of the Group. 

Operational Risk

Key Management Risk

The Group may face the risk of reputational damage and financial loss 
resulting from a material misstatement in the Group’s financial reporting. 

Financial Reporting Risk

Principle Risks and Uncertainties [cont.]

RISK CATEGORY POTENTIAL IMPACT
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Clive Kahn
Non-Executive Chairman

Clive has over 30 years of experience in financial 
services, particularly FX and payments. He previously 
served as CFO and CEO of Travelex, the global foreign 
exchange business, as well as CEO of Cardsave, a credit 
card acceptance and payments solutions business. 
In addition to his role as Non-Executive Chairman 
of Alpha FX Group PLC, Clive is CEO of Payzone UK 
Limited, a payment solutions business. Clive is also a 
Chartered Accountant.

Maintaining Skill Set:
As CEO of a regulated and high growth payments 
business, Clive’s skills and experience are kept up to 
date by nature of his current role.  He also attends a 
variety of skill-focused conferences.

Committee Membership:
–  Nominations Committee Chair
–  Remuneration Committee member
–  Audit Committee member

Morgan Tillbrook
Chief Executive Officer

Morgan founded Alpha in 2009 after identifying the 
opportunity to provide a high-quality FX advisory 
service differentiated from traditional providers.  As 
CEO, Morgan has been instrumental in the expansion 
of the Group and its strong organic growth profile, and 
is responsible for the overall strategic development of 
the Group (both within the UK and internationally).

Maintaining Skill Set:
As Chief Executive Officer of a regulated and high 
growth FX solutions business, Morgan’s experience is 
kept up to date by nature of his day to day role.  He also 
attends a variety of skill-focused conferences and events 
and is an avid reader of self-development literature.

Committee Membership:
–  Nominations Committee member

GOVERNANCE  BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the proper management of the Company by 
formulating, reviewing and approving the Company’s strategy, budgets,  
and corporate actions.  

In order to achieve its objectives, the Board adopts the ten principles of 
the QCA Code.  Through successfully implementing these principles, the 
Company aims to deliver long-term growth for shareholders and is able to 
maintain a flexible, efficient and effective management framework within  
an entrepreneurial environment.

   4544

ALPHA FX GROUP PLC  ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FY2018



Lisa Gordon
Non-Executive Director

Lisa has more than 24 years of board experience 
at both listed and private companies. She was 
previously a founding Director of Local World PLC 
which was acquired by Trinity Mirror PLC in November 
2015, as well as COO of Yattendon Group, a private 
conglomerate, and Corporate Development Director of 
Chrysalis Group PLC, the media group. 

Lisa is also a Non-Executive Chairman of Albert 
Technologies PLC, an AI technology business operating 
in the digital marketing sector and a Non-Executive 
Director of Orange Eyes Limited (trading as Magic 
Light Pictures), a leading children’s film and television 
production company. 

Maintaining Skill Set:
Lisa’s skills and experience are kept up to 
date by nature of her current roles.  She also 
attends numerous NED CPD training events and 
professional seminars. 

Committee membership:
–  Remuneration Committee Chair
–  Audit Committee Chair
–  Nominations Committee member

Matthew Knowles
Non-Executive Director

Matt brings significant industry expertise to Alpha, 
having spent 19 years at HiFX, a business he 
co-founded, providing international payment services 
to consumer and corporate clients.  At the time 
of his departure from HiFX Matt was responsible 
for approximately 400 employees across 6 offices 
internationally, and had led the company through a 
number of high-profile acquisitions, as well as a sale 
to Nasdaq listed Euronet Inc.  Matt is also a Venture 
Partner at TempoCap, a late-stage growth investor (VC 
Fund), investing in disruptive technology companies.  
Alongside this, he is Chairman of Bleckwen, a French 
regtech business.

Maintaining Skill Set:
As a Chairman, Non-Executive Director and Venture 
Partner involved and exposed to numerous disruptive 
business models and technologies, Matt’s skills 
and experience are kept up to date by nature of his 
day-to-day roles.  He also attends numerous NED 
training events and professional seminars, as well as 
skills focused conferences.

Committee membership:
–  Remuneration Committee member
–  Audit Committee member

GOVERNANCE  BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Tim Kidd
Chief Financial Officer

Tim has over 25 years’ experience in accounting and 
finance, including 16 years at FTSE listed ICAP PLC 
where he held several senior finance and accounting 
roles, including Group Financial Controller and 
EMEA Chief Financial Officer. Tim is also a Chartered 
Accountant and Graduated with a degree in Accounting 
and Finance in 1987.

Maintaining Skill Set:
As CFO of Alpha FX, Tim keeps his skills and 
experience up to date by nature of his day-to-day role.  
Furthermore, as a Chartered Accountant he undertakes 
Continuous Professional Development (CPD) training, 
alongside attending a variety of technical courses and 
subscribing to professional publications.

Committee membership:
–  N/A

Henry Lisney
Chief Operating Officer

Henry is responsible for driving Alpha’s growth and 
innovation strategy, whilst maintaining the efficiency 
and effectiveness of all departments. He joined Alpha 
in 2013, before quickly rising to the role of Operations 
Director in 2015. He was appointed to the Board as 
COO in 2018. 

Henry is a member of the Chartered Institute for 
Securities and Investment and holds a first-class 
degree in Management and Accounting. 

Maintaining Skill Set:
As COO of a regulated and high growth FX solutions 
business, Henry’s experience is kept up to date by 
nature of his day to day role.  He is also a practicing 
member of the Chartered Institute of Securities and 
Investments and attends a variety of skill-focused 
conferences and seminars.

Committee membership:
–  N/A
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GOVERNANCE  BOARD AND COMMITTEES

–  Financial reporting and controls
–  Risk management and internal controls
–  Regulatory reporting and controls
–  Contracts
–  Investment in new businesses
–  Commitment to material expenditure
–  Senior management succession
–  Shareholder communication
–  Board membership and other appointments
–  Remuneration
–  Delegation of authority
–  Corporate governance

Board Meetings
The Board met seven times during the year and  
Non-Executive Directors also communicate directly 
with Executive Directors and Senior Management 
between formal Board meetings.  

The Chairman and the Chief Operating Officer plan the 
agenda for each Board meeting in consultation with all 
other Directors.  The agenda is issued with supporting 
papers ahead of the Board meetings, along with 
appropriate information required to enable the Board 
to discharge its duties. 

Directors are expected to attend all Board meetings, 
and the Committee meetings on which they are 
members.  The table below shows Director’s 
attendance at scheduled Board and Committee 
meetings during the period.

Board Committees
The Board has established an Audit Committee, 
Remuneration Committee and Nominations 
Committee, each with formally delegated duties and 
responsibilities and with written terms of reference.  
Each Committee comprises Non-Executive Directors  
of the Group.  No new independent external advice 
was sought by the Board or its Committees during  
the period.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Lisa Gordon and its 
other members are Clive Kahn and Matthew Knowles, 
all of whom are independent Non-Executive Directors 
and have recent and relevant financial experience.  

The Audit Committee determines and examines any 
matters relating to the financial affairs of the Group 
including the terms of engagement of the Group’s 
auditors and, in consultation with the auditors, the 
scope of the audit. In addition, it considers the financial 
performance, position and prospects of the Group and 
ensure they are properly monitored and reported on. 

The Audit Committee meets not less than twice in 
each financial year and has unrestricted access to the 
Group’s auditors.

Clive Kahn

Morgan Tillbrook

Tim Kidd

Henry Lisney

Lisa Gordon

Matthew Knowles

7/7

7/7

7/7

7/7

7/7

0/1

1/1

 NA

 NA

 NA

1/1

NA

2/2

 NA

 NA

 NA

2/2

0/1

2/2

2/2

 NA

 NA

2/2

 NA

MEMBER BOARD REMUNERATION AUDIT NOMINATIONS

Corporate Governance

The Board believes the size and composition of the Board 
is appropriate given the size and stage of development 
of the Group and, as per the individual biographies, 
that the Directors bring a desirable range of skills, 
experience, personal qualities and capabilities in light of 
the Group’s challenges and opportunities, while at the 
same time ensuring that no individual (or a small group of 
individuals) can dominate the Board’s decision making.  All 
Board Directors are subject to election at their first Annual 
General Meeting and to re-election annually thereafter.

How the Board Operates
The Board is responsible for the proper management 
of the Group by formulating, reviewing and approving 
the Group’s strategy, budgets, and corporate actions.  
In order to achieve its objectives, the Board adopts the 
ten principles of the QCA Code.  Through successfully 
implementing these principles, the Group aims to deliver 
long-term growth for shareholders and is able to maintain 
a flexible, efficient and effective management framework 
within an entrepreneurial environment.  

The Group’s strategy is outlined on pages 29 - 33 
and summarises the Board’s approach to achieving 
sustainable long-term growth and value for shareholders.  
Matters reserved for the attention of the Board which are 
reviewed annually include:

–  Strategy and management
–  Structure and capital

In compliance with the AIM Rules for Companies, the 
Group has chosen to formalise its governance policies 
by complying with the QCA Corporate Governance 
Code for Small and Mid-Sized Quoted Companies (the 
“QCA Code”).  Following the changes to the AIM rules in 
2018, the Board has also refined the Group’s corporate 
governance arrangements in order to follow the ten 
principles of the QCA Corporate Governance Code.

Board Composition
The Board is responsible to shareholders for the 
successful stewardship of the Group and sets the 
Group’s strategy for long-term success. It is important 
that the Board itself contains the right mix of skills, 
experience and knowledge in order to deliver the 
Strategy of the Group.  As such, the Board comprises 
three Executive Directors and, including the Chairman, 
three independent Non-executive Directors. The Board 
considers that Clive Kahn (acting as Chairman), Lisa 
Gordon and Matthew Knowles are independent within 
the meaning of the UK Corporate Governance Code.  

The Chairman and Chief Executive have distinct roles. 
The Chairman’s primary responsibility is the delivery 
of the Group’s corporate governance and the effective 
operation of the Board of Directors, whilst the Chief 
Executive is responsible for the operation of the Group 
in order to deliver on its strategic objectives.  The 
Chairman has a clear separation from the day-to-
day business of the Group which allows him to make 
independent decisions. 

The Board recognises the value and importance of high standards 
of corporate governance and ensuring that all of its practices are 
conducted transparently, ethically and efficiently.  This section sets 
out our approach to corporate governance and provides further 
information on how the Board and its committees operate.
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Internal Controls and Assessment of Business Risk
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group’s 
internal control and risk management processes, all 
of which are designed to manage and mitigate risks 
that may undermine the Group’s strategic objectives.  
Such systems can only provide a reasonable but 
not absolute level of assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. The Audit Committee monitors 
and reviews the Group’s internal control procedures 
and reports its conclusions and recommendations to 
the Board.

Shareholder Communications
Alpha is committed to ensuring appropriate 
communication and reporting structures exist between 
The Board and its existing and potential shareholders.  
The Group maintains communication with both current 
and potential institutional shareholders through one-
to-one meetings with Executive Directors, particularly 
after the publication of interim and full year results, as 
well as ad-hoc meetings and conference calls.  

Private shareholders are encouraged to attend the 
Annual General Meeting at which the Group’s activities 
are considered and questions answered. Any material 
presented (including the results of shareholder votes) is 
uploaded to the Group’s website where it is available to 
all shareholders. The Group’s website has a dedicated 
investor page which contains the latest information 
including the most recent results. 

Other Stakeholders
The Board believes that other than shareholders, the 
Group’s key stakeholders are the Group’s staff and its 
corporate clients from which it generates revenue. Given 
the size of the Group, all matters relating to staff and 
corporate clients are dealt with at Board level. 

Employees are also encouraged to openly provide 
feedback on a regular basis to all other members of 
staff (regardless of seniority and tenure) through a 
performance management principle known as ‘radical 
candour’.  Seeking and providing feedback to others is 
a key part of the Alpha culture, and as a result feedback 
is habitually sought from clients, suppliers and counter-
parties in order to ensure the Group is continually 
improving the quality of its service and relationships. 

Annual General Meeting
The Group’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) will take place 
at 10am on 10 May. The Notice of AGM and explanatory 
notes on all resolutions are provided alongside all copies 
of the annual report mailed to shareholders. Digital copies 
are also available to view via the company’s website. 

GOVERNANCE  BOARD AND COMMITTEES

Key areas of activity:
–   Assesses the adequacy of the knowledge pool of 

Non-Executive Directors
–   Assesses the adequacy of representativeness of 

Non-Executive Directors
–   Approve the appointment of any new 

Non-Executive Directors
–  Succession planning

Board Effectiveness
At the current stage of the Group’s development, 
assessment of the Board’s performance and that of its 
committees is undertaken by the Board as a whole, led by 
the Group’s Chairman. 

Although the Group has no formal procedure for 
measuring the effectiveness of the Board, the Board 
will be carefully reviewing its effectiveness and the need 
to refresh its membership by reference to financial 
performance, adherence to budgets and the overall 
growth of the Group, and taking account of the opinions 
and insights of its auditors, Nominated Adviser, broker, 
legal and other advisers. The method of assessing Board 
effectiveness and performance will be reviewed on a 
continuing basis.

The skills, experience, personal qualities and capabilities 
of the Board are outlined in their biographical details 
on pages 45 to 47. Their experiences and characteristics 
give them the ability to deliver and challenge the Group’s 
strategy for the benefit of shareholders. The Board 
keeps succession planning under review and monitors 
the progress and success of the development plans 
which have been established for relevant employees, 
with a particular focus on ensuring over time all senior 
management positions have at least one internal 
successor. The Committee also monitors the length of 
tenure of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors and 
the mix and skills of the Directors.

Time Commitments
The Directors recognise the need to commit the time 
necessary to fulfil their roles.  This requirement is included 
in their letters of appointment.  The Board is satisfied that 
the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are able to 
commit sufficient time to the Group’s business. 

Key areas of activity:
–  Financial reporting
–  Internal control and risk management reviews
–  External audit
–  Review of the Risk Register
–   Consult with Head of Compliance department 

independent of executive Directors. 
–  Review of complaints register

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Lisa 
Gordon and its other members are Clive Kahn and 
Matthew Knowles all of whom are independent,  
Non-Executive Directors. 

The Remuneration Committee reviews the 
performance of the Executive Directors and sets their 
remuneration, determines the payment of bonuses 
to the Executive Directors and considers the Group’s 
long-term incentive arrangements for employees. 
In exercising this role, members of this committee 
have regard to the recommendations put forward 
in the Corporate Governance Code and to industry 
benchmarks. The Remuneration Committee meets not 
less than once a year and at such other times as the 
Chairman of the committee requires.  

The Remuneration Report on pages 56 and 57 contains 
more detailed information on the Committee’s roles 
and the Director’s remuneration and fees.

Key areas of activity:
–  Oversight of Executive Remuneration policy
–  Review of Director’s remuneration against 
    benchmark data
–  Setting and appraisal of performance targets
–  Established equity scheme through Sharesave

Nominations Committee
The nomination committee is chaired by Clive Kahn; 
its other members are Lisa Gordon and Morgan 
Tillbrook. The Nominations Committee reviews and 
recommends nominees as new Directors to the Board. 
The Nominations Committee meets not less than once 
a year and at such other times as the Chairman of the 
committee requires.
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Business Culture, Behaviours 
and Ethics

The Group operates in the highly competitive foreign exchange industry.  It is Alpha’s 
belief that its success comes from its culture and long-term focused strategy.

As a founder-led business, the Group has always hired within its image attracting and 
retaining people who share the Alpha culture. As the company continues to scale, the 
Company sees retaining its culture as key to maintaining its high performance and 
delivering on its objectives, strategy and business model.

In light of this, in 2018 the Group established an Employee Engagement team, led by CEO 
Morgan Tillbrook,  which is responsible for defining, embedding and reinforcing the Alpha 
culture and ensuring it evolves in the right way as the company expands.  During the year, 
the team held a series of workshops and surveys with the entire Group, designed to codify 
the Alpha culture and create transparency around what ‘Being Alpha’ looks like across 
all areas of the business.  As a result of this, the Group now has a clearly defined vision, 
mission and purpose along with five key behaviours and a series of business principles.

It is our belief that Alpha’s unique culture supports the Group’s objectives, strategy and 
business model. 

The Group is committed to ensuring that Alpha operates according to the highest ethical 
standards for which the Board has primary responsibility. The Directors believe that the 
main determinant of whether a business behaves ethically and with integrity is the quality 
of its people. The Directors have responsibility for ensuring that individuals employed 
by the Group demonstrate the highest levels of integrity and undertakes reviews of its 
employees regularly. In addition, the Group has a formal Bribery and Anti-Corruption 
Policy and a Share Dealing Code.

BUSINESS MODEL  BUSINESS CULTURE, BEHAVIOURS AND ETHICS
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GOVERNANCE  CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Having worked with Alpha for some time now, I’m happy 
to say you have consistently demonstrated a personal and 
dedicated level of service above and beyond that offered 
by my bank. It’s refreshing to work with a financial services 
business that actually cares about their client. Please keep 
up the good work.”

“

Penelope Wisniewski
Operations Manager

We remain committed to providing equal opportunities and 
diversity in the workplace, by recruiting and promoting staff 
based on their experience, skills and attitude.  We therefore do 
not discriminate between employees or prospective employees 
on the grounds of age, race, disability, religion, gender or any 
other criteria.

We believe gender diversity within the foreign exchange industry 
has considerable room for improvement.  We are therefore 
focused on working with our recruitment partners to improve 
this trend, and in the last year alone the percentage of women 
within our organisation increased from 4% to 18%.

We take seriously our responsibility to provide a safe and 
healthy working environment.  The Group complies with health 
and safety legislation including conducting regular inspections 
and risk assessments.

We are committed to minimising the impact our operations have 
on the environment.  Recycling of office supplies is undertaken 
where possible and the Group has adopted a largely paperless 
marketing model.

Corporate Social Responsibility
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
BASIC 

SALARY/FEE
£

BONUS*

£

PENSION

£

SHARE-
BASED

PAYMENT

OTHER

£

TOTAL

£

Executive

Morgan Tillbrook 250,000 62,500 703 - 1,516 314,719

Tim Kidd 120,000 60,000 - 14,808 - 194,808

Henry Lisney (appointed 21/3/2018) 93,636** 96,154 - - - 189,790

Non-executive

Clive Kahn 30,000 - - - - 30,000

Lisa Gordon 45,000 - - 27,462 - 72,462

Matthew Knowles (appointed 22/10/2018) 5,000 - 80 - - 5,080

The highest paid Director was paid £314,719 during the year (2017: £250,359). The average wage within the 
Group for the year ending 31 December 2018 was £87,020.

Directors’ shareholding and share interests
The following table summarises the shareholding and share interests of the Directors at 31 December 2018.

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
BENEFICIALLY 

OWNED
UNAPPROVED 

SHARE OPTION 
SCHEME

GROWTH
SHARE SCHEME TOTAL

Executive

Morgan Tillbrook 9,748,220 - - 9,748,220

Tim Kidd 98,401 - 76,460 174,861

Henry Lisney 1,125,539 - - 1,125,539

Non-executive

Clive Kahn 397,361 - - 397,361

Lisa Gordon - 57,297 - 57,297

Matthew Knowles - - - -

Details of the Growth Share Scheme and the unapproved share option are included in Note 24 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. No shares were sold by any of the Directors in the year.

Lisa Gordon
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

GOVERNANCE  REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Directors’ remuneration
The following table summarises the total gross remuneration of the Directors who served in the year 
ended 31 December 2018.

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

BASIC 
SALARY/FEE

£

BONUS

£

PENSION

£

SHARE-
BASED

PAYMENT

OTHER

£

TOTAL

£

Executive

Morgan Tillbrook 225,000 25,000 359 - - 250,359

Tim Kidd 88,616 20,000 - 47,635 - 156,251

Non-executive

Clive Kahn 27,500 - - - - 27,500

Lisa Gordon (appointed 1/2/2017) 41,250 - - 82,687 - 123,937

* The Bonus paid to the executive directors in the year represents 66.7% of the maximum potential bonus payable, based on the Group’s 
achievement against key performance indicators.
**  Salary represents period as a Director only.

Remuneration Committee Report
FY 2018

I am pleased to present the 2018 remuneration report, which sets out the remuneration policy and the 
remuneration paid to the Directors for the year.

Alpha FX Group PLC is listed on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) and, as such, in the interests of 
transparency, the following disclosures are prepared on a voluntary basis for the Group.

Remuneration Committee
Details of the remuneration Committee membership are provided in the Corporate Governance Statement.

Remuneration Policy
The Group’s policy is that the remuneration package of the Executive Directors should be sufficiently 
competitive to attract, retain and motivate those Directors to achieve the Group’s objectives without making 
excessive payments. Remuneration is reviewed each year in light of the Group’s business objectives. It 
is the Remuneration Committee’s intention that remuneration should reward achievement of objectives 
and that these are aligned with shareholder’s interests over the medium-term. Remuneration consists 
of basic salary, performance-related bonus, long-term incentive plan and pension contributions. The 
Remuneration Committee regularly reviews Executive Directors’ remuneration against relevant industry 
and market benchmarks.

Performance-related bonuses are based on achievement of the Group’s budget for both revenue and profit. 
Revenue and profit growth are key KPIs for the Group. The Committee ensures that the balance between 
fixed and variable remuneration helps to ensure objectives are aligned. The Committee believes that the 
dual focus on revenue and profit performance is integral to ensuring delivery of shareholder value.

REQUIRED WRITTEN NOTICE BY BOTH THE COMPANY 
AND INDIVIDUALS 

Executive Director

Morgan Tillbrook 12 months

Henry Lisney 6 months

Tim Kidd 6 months

Executive Directors’ service contracts

Non- Executive Directors’ service contracts
The Non- Executive Directors do not have service contracts but are appointed under letters of 
appointment. Appointment letters are intended to be for a two-year term. No compensation is 
payable in the event of a Non-Executive Director not being re-elected. The Board determines the 
Terms and Conditions of the Non-Executive Directors.

A resolution to accept the Report of the Remuneration Committee 
will be put to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and the 
Committee will conduct a full annual review of the policy.
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GOVERNANCE  AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Role of the external auditor
The external auditor, BDO LLP, were reappointed in the financial year to 31 December 2017, following a formal 
tender process. The Audit Committee monitors the relationship to ensure that auditor independence and 
objectivity are maintained. The Committee will keep under review the need for external tender. 

The breakdown of fees between audit and non-audit services is provided in Note 5 of the Group’s financial 
statements. The non-audit fees are monitored by the Committee. In 2018 these primarily relate to the Client 
Asset Assurance Engagement Audit for the Group. 

Having reviewed the auditor’s independence and performance, the Audit Committee recommends that 
BDO LLP be reappointed as the Group’s auditor at the next AGM.

Audit process
The auditor prepares a plan for the audit of the full period financial statements. The audit plan sets out the 
scope of the audit, areas to be targeted and audit timetable. This plan is reviewed and agreed in advance 
by the Audit Committee. Following the audit, the auditor presented its findings to the Audit Committee 
for discussion.

Internal Audit
At present the Group does not have an internal audit function and the Committee believes that management 
is able to derive assurance as to the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management 
procedures without one.

Risk Management and Internal Controls
As described on page 51 of the corporate governance report, the Group has established a framework of risk 
management and internal control systems, policies and procedures. The Audit Committee is responsible 
for reviewing the risk management and internal control framework and ensuring that it operates effectively. 
During the period, the Committee has reviewed the framework and the Committee is satisfied that the internal 
control systems in place are currently operating effectively.

Whistleblowing
The Group has in place a whistleblowing policy which enables employees of the Group to confidentially report 
matters of concern.

Our priorities for the year ahead
During 2019, the Committee will continue to focus on:

 − Reviewing the Group’s ICAAP and risk framework

 − Assessing the resilience of the technology infrastructure 

 − Considering the implications of Brexit including any change to the regulatory environment, business 
practices and risk profile of the Group.

Audit Committee Report
FY 2018

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the Audit Committee report for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is properly reported and 
reviewed. Its role includes monitoring the integrity of the financial statements (including annual and interim accounts and 
results announcements), reviewing internal control and risk management systems, reviewing any changes to accounting 
policies, reviewing and monitoring the extent of the non-audit services undertaken by external auditors and advising on 
the appointment of external auditors.

The Audit Committee met twice for scheduled meetings during the year and also held meetings, independent of 
management, with BDO LLP, the Company’s external auditors.

Members of the audit committee
Details of the Audit Committee membership are provided in the Corporate Governance Statement.

Duties
The main items of business considered by the Audit Committee during the year included: 

 − Review of the 2018 audit plan and audit engagement letter; 

 − Reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process;

 − Monitoring the integrity of the financial statements and Annual Report; 

 − Going concern review; 

 − Review of the risk management and internal control systems; 

 − Review the Group’s ICAAP and risk framework;

 − Meeting with the external auditor without management present; and

 − Consideration of regulatory developments and their impact, including MiFID II.

The Chair of the Audit Committee consults with all members prior to the meeting to ensure all matters arising are raised 
and discussed openly.

The full terms of reference of the Committee comply with the UK’s Quoted Companies Alliance Corporate Governance 
Guidelines for Small and Mid-Size Quoted Companies (the “QCA Code”) and are available on the Group’s website or from 
the Company Secretary at the registered office address.

Lisa Gordon
Chair of the Audit Committee
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Director’s Report

The Directors present their Annual Report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The corporate governance statement on page 48 also forms part of this Director’s report.

Business Review
An analysis of the Group’s development (including likely future developments) and performance is contained in the 
Chairman’s Statement, CEO Statement and Our Strategy. Information on the financial risk management strategy of the 
Group and its exposure to its principal risks  uncertainties is on page 37.

Principal Activity
Alpha FX Group PLC (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The 
registered office of the Company is 2 Eastbourne Terrace, Paddington, London W2 6LG. The registered company number 
is 07262416. A list of the Company’s subsidiaries is presented in note 13.

The Company’s principal activity is the provision of foreign exchange services for corporates and institutions exposed 
to currency market volatility through its subsidiaries. Activities range from initial design and implementation of hedging 
strategies, to ongoing management and monitoring of currency risks.

Results and Dividend
The Group’s results for the year are shown in the statement of comprehensive income on page 68. Details of both the 
interim and final dividend for the year are included on page 86. 

Directors
The Directors of the Group during the year were:

Executive
Morgan Tillbrook
Tim Kidd
Henry Lisney (appointed 22 March 2018)

Non-Executive
Clive Kahn
Lisa Gordon
Matt Knowles (appointed 22 October 2018)

Biographical details, along with committee responsibilities are provided on pages 44 to 47.

GOVERNANCE  DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Directors’ Interests
The Directors’ interests in the Group’s shares and options over ordinary shares are shown in the remuneration report on 
page 56.

Political Donations
The Group has not made in the past, nor does it intend to make in the future, any political donations.

Post Balance Sheet events
On 19 March the company determined that following the vesting of shares under the Growth Share Scheme for the year 
ended 31 December 2018, it would be issuing 576,442 shares on 25 March 2019. Further details are provided in note 27 to 
the financial statements.

Financial Instruments
The financial risk management objectives of the Group, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, cash flow risk, 
interest rate risk and currency risk, are provided in note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 90 to 93.

Share Capital Structure
Details of changes in the Group’s share capital are disclosed in note 19 of the consolidated financial statement.

Share Options Schemes
Details of employee share schemes are set out in Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Going Concern
The Directors believe the Group is in a strong financial position due to its profitable operations and strong cash 
generation, and therefore that the Group has adequate resources to continue its operations for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Research & Development
The Company has a continuous programme of development expenditure as part of its focus on evolving its service 
offering through technological innovation.  Capitalised internal development expenditure is disclosed in note 11 of the 
accounts.  All other development expenditure is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive income.

Future developments
Auditor and disclosure of information to auditor
BDO LLP were appointment as auditors on 7 December 2016 and are continuing in office. In accordance with 
s489(4) of the Companies Act 2006 a resolution for their reappointment will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

As far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware, and 
each Director has taken all reasonable steps that he or she ought to have taken to make himself or herself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of this information.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at 10am on 10 May 2018 at the offices of Bird  Bird, 12 New Fetter Lane, 
London EC4A 1 P. The Notice of Annual General Meeting and the ordinary and special resolutions to be put to the meeting 
are included at the end of this Annual Report and financial statements.
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Statement of Directors Responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors 
have elected to prepare the Group and Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs). Under company law the Directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of 
the Group and the Company for the period.  The Directors are also required to prepare financial statements in accordance 
with the rules of the London Stock Exchange for companies trading securities on the Alternative Investment Market. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent
  state whether applicable IFRSs have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the 

financial statements; and
  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is appropriate to presume that the Company will 

continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.  They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Website publication
The directors are responsible for ensuring the annual report and the financial statements are made available on a 
website.  Financial statements are published on the company’s website in accordance with legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.  The maintenance and integrity of the company’s website is the responsibility of the directors.  The directors’ 
responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements contained therein.

By order of the board

Tim Kidd 
Company Secretary 
19 March 2019

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Alpha FX Group plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 which comprise the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, the company balance sheet, the company statement of changes in equity and the notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion:

  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 
31 December 2018 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

  the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union;

  the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of  
Alpha F  Group plc

GOVERNANCE  INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ALPHA FX GROUP PLC
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Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

  the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or

  the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about the Group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for 
a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
(whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, 
the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
Existence and accuracy of revenue
The Group’s revenue recognition policy is included with 
the accounting policies on page 74.

The Group’s reported revenue is a key performance 
indicator for the market, it drives the level of sales 
commissions payable to front office staff and is a key 
metric in the Group’s Growth Share Scheme used to 
incentivise directors, key Management and certain staff. 

Due to the incentive that exists to overstate revenue we 
cannot rebut the presumption that a fraud risk exists 
within revenue recognition as prescribed by International 
Standards on Auditing (ISA)(UK) 240 (Revised une 2016). 
Therefore, a significant risk of material misstatement is 
considered to be present over the existence and accuracy 
of revenue. 

How we addressed the key audit matter in the audit
We reviewed the revenue recognition policy applied to 
each of the Group’s revenue streams and considered its 
compliance with IFRS15 ‘Revenue’. 

We assessed the design and implementation of the 
controls covering the existence and accuracy of revenue 
transactions. We then sample tested the relevant controls 
for operating effectiveness throughout the year.

We substantively tested a sample of revenue transactions 
for each material revenue stream to verify the existence 
and accuracy of revenue with reference to underlying 
supporting trade tickets and third party information 
recorded with the banking counterparty.

Our testing did not identify any material misstatements in 
the amount of revenue recognised.

Key audit matter
Fair value of open trades at year-end
The Group has a substantial forward book comprising 
open forward foreign currency trades not yet settled. At 
each reporting date Management is required to reassess 
the fair value of open trades, which includes adjusting the 
carrying value of the forward book with reference to their 
mark to market forward rates as well as an assessment of 
the credit worthiness of their counterparties.

A significant amount of Management time is directed 
at ensuring the revaluation of the forward book to 
mark to market forward rates has been performed with 
material accuracy. 

Management are required to exercise a significant level of 
judgement in their assessment of the credit worthiness of their 
counterparties and their probability of default. This presents a 
significant risk of material misstatement in the completeness 
and accuracy of the credit valuation adjustment.

The Group’s fair value policy is included with the 
accounting policies on page 77 and the significant 
judgements are set out in note 3. 

Management override of controls
The responsibilities of an auditor, as prescribed by 
International Standards on Auditing (ISA)(UK) 240 (Revised 
une 2016), include identification and assessment of 

the risks of material misstatements due to fraud or 
Management override of controls.

The Group has an extensive internal control environment 
covering sales, settlements and financial reporting. 
Significant elements of these control procedures have 
historically relied on human manual execution. The recent 
growth of the Group has presented a significant risk 
that there are internal control failures as a result of the 
increased volume and complexity of activity. 

The impact of a potential error in manual controls could be 
pervasive to the financial statements as a whole; it is for 
this reason that it has been necessary to devote increased 
auditor attention to the control environment.

The Group’s approach to financial risk Management is set 
out in note 16.

How we addressed the key audit matter in the audit
We reviewed the fair value policy applied to the open 
positions at year-end and considered its compliance with 
IFRS 13 ‘Fair value’. 

We substantively tested a sample of trades within the 
open forward book at year-end, ensuring that the mark to 
market forward rate has been appropriately applied.

We substantively tested a sample of Management’s credit 
valuation adjustment calculations by vouching the input 
data to underlying accounting records and corroborated the 
information used by Management to make their assessment.

We recalculated the credit valuation adjustment using 
observable market default data to compare against 
Management’s own assessment of fair value.

Our testing did not identify any material misstatements 
in the credit valuation adjustment or the mark to market 
valuation of the forward book.

How we addressed the key audit matter in the audit
We utilised computer assisted auditing techniques (CAATs) 
to stratify the population of general ledger entries and 
identify any entries, which may contain a higher risk of 
Management override or appeared to be outside the 
normal course of business. These included manual journal 
entries made to the general ledger. A sample of these 
entries were substantively tested back to supporting 
documentation to attest to their legitimacy.

We reviewed Management’s assessment of fraud 
and error for reasonableness and compared against 
our understanding of the Group and its activities. We 
corroborated assertions made by management to 
supporting documentation.

We reviewed Management estimates in the financial 
reporting process and considered for elements of bias.

Our testing did not identify any material misstatements 
in respect of fraud or Management override within the 
financial statements.
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of 
misstatements. For planning, we consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, 
could influence the economic decisions of reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the financial statements. In 
order to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceeded materiality, we use a lower 
level, “performance materiality”, to determine the extent of testing needed. Importantly, misstatements below these levels 
will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identified misstatements, and the 
particular circumstances of their occurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements as a whole.

The materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set at £500,000 (2017: £330,000). This was determined 
with reference to the Group’s profit before tax. Profit before tax is considered the most appropriate measure in assessing 
the performance of the Group given the markets focus on this as key performance measure. Performance materiality 
was set at 65% (2017: 70%) of the Group materiality level. This reduction was determined to be necessary due to the 
increasing complexity of group activities and as a result of the incorporation of two new subsidiaries during the year.

The materiality for the parent company financial statement was set at £450,000 (2017: £330,000). This was determined by 
reference to the company’s net asset position. Net assets were considered the most appropriate measure as the parent is 
a holding company whose position is primarily assessed by reference to its asset values. Our calculation of materiality in 
respect of the parent was capped at 90% of the value of the Group materiality, being £500,000. Performance materiality 
was set at 65% (2017: 70%).

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the committee all individual audit differences in excess of £20,000. 
We also agreed to report differences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

An overview of the scope of our audit
The Group comprises the parent company and three trading subsidiaries (2017: one), Alpha FX limited, Alpha FX Institutional 
Limited and Alpha Foreign Exchange (Canada) Limited. As they were each determined to be significant components, a full 
scope audit of the parent company and UK subsidiaries was performed by BDO LLP. We determined that the Canadian 
subsidiary was not a significant component for the audit and BDO LLP performed review procedures only.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

  the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

 the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the parent company and its environment obtained in 
the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

 the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement (set out on page 62), the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the parent company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the parent company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the parent company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the parent company and the parent 
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Neil Fung-On (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
London
United Kingdom
19 March 2019 

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2018

NOTE

YEAR ENDED
 31 DECEMBER 2018

£

YEAR ENDED
 31 DECEMBER 2017

£

Revenue  23,474,709 13,543,132

Operating expenses 5 (13,781,984) (7,913,448)

Underlying operating profit 10,004,589 6,753,889

Cost associated with the IPO – (612,873)

Share-based payments (311,864) (511,332)

Operating profit 5  9,692,725  5,629,684 

Finance income 6 39,054 25,110

Finance expenses 6 – (32,626)

Profit before taxation 9,731,779 5,622,168

Taxation 8 (1,911,082) (1,225,932)

Profit for the year 7,820,697 4,396,236

Other comprehensive income:

Currency translation differences arising from consolidation 10,087 –

Total comprehensive income for the year 7,830,784 4,396,236

Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

7,402,768
428,016

4,396,236
–

7,830,784 4,396,236

Earnings per share attributable to equity owners of the parent 
(pence per share)
- basic
- diluted
- underlying basic
- underlying diluted

9
9
9
9

21.8p
21.3p
22.7p
22.1p

14.2p
13.9p
17.5p
17.2p

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2018

NOTE

AS AT
31 DECEMBER 2018 

£

AS AT
31 DECEMBER 2017

£

Non-current assets

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

11
12

437,488
172,851

124,720
197,025

Total non-current assets 610,339 321,745

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 17 34,462,611 16,824,511

Cash and cash equivalents 18 38,396,301 13,073,132

Other cash balances 18 2,562,538 1,571,475

Total current assets 75,421,450 31,469,118

Total assets 76,031,789 31,790,863

Equity

Share capital 19 73,092 65,524

Share premium account 19 31,387,853 12,237,951

Capital redemption reserve 19 3,701 3,701

Merger reserve 19 666,529 666,529

Retained earnings 15,002,646  9,081,374

Translation reserve 10,087 –

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 47,143,908 22,055,079

Non-controlling interests 20 1,562,422 –

Total equity 48,706,330  22,055,079 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 21  26,052,174 8,830,511

Current tax liability  1,028,498  694,692

Provisions 22 43,350 110,000

Total current liabilities 27,124,022  9,635,203 

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liability 8 45,724 20,581

Provisions 22 155,713 80,000

Total non-current liabilities 201,437 100,581

Total equity and liabilities 76,031,789 31,790,863

The consolidated financial statements of Alpha FX Group plc were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2019 and 
signed on its behalf by:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

M  Tillbrook
Director

T C Kidd
Director
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2018

NOTE

YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2018

£

YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2017

£

ash o s from operatin  acti ities   

Profit before taxation  9,731,779 5,622,168

Net finance (income)/expense 6 (39,054) 7,516

Amortisation of intangible assets 11 108,492 26,316

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 65,810 74,590

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 12 63,259 25,507

Share-based payment expense 296,072 482,372

Provision charged in year 22 9,063 190,000

(Increase) in other receivables (210,612) (155,158)

Increase/(decrease) in other payables 8,670,508 (5,676,021)

(Increase) in derivative financial assets (16,174,082) (876,879)

Increase/(decrease) in derivative financial liabilities 8,551,155 (3,320,361)

(Increase)/decrease in other cash balances (991,063) 349,789

ash in o s out o s  from operatin  acti ities 10,081,327 (3,250,161)

Tax paid (1,552,133) (1,409,547)

et cash in o s out o s  from operatin  acti ities 8,529,194 (4,659,708)

ash o s from in estin  acti ities

Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment 12 (104,895) (127,831)

Expenditure on internally developed intangible assets 11 (421,260) (105,515) 

et cash out o s from in estin  acti ities (526,155) (233,346)

ash o s from financin  acti ities

Proceeds from borrowings – 400,000

Repayment of borrowings – (1,769,425)

Dividends paid to equity owners of the Parent Company (1,766,350) (491,430)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (119,000) –

Issue of ordinary shares by Parent Company 19,955,332 13,000,000

Share issue costs (798,993) (748,784)

Issue of ordinary shares by subsidiary – 2,073

Net interest received/(paid) 39,054 (7,516)

et cash in o s from financin  acti ities 17,310,043 10,384,918

ncrease in net cash and cash e ui alents in the ear 25,313,082 5,491,864

Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13,073,132 7,581,268

Foreign currency movements 10,087 –

et cash and cash e ui alents at end of ear 18 38,396,301 13,073,132

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2018

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF THE PARENT

  SHARE 
CAPITAL

£

SHARE 
PREMIUM 
ACCOUNT

£

CAPITAL 
REDEMPTION 

RESERVE 
£

MERGER 
RESERVE 

£

RETAINED 
EARNINGS 

£

 TRANSLATION 
RESERVE

£
TOTAL 

£

NON– 
CONTROLLING 

INTERESTS 
£

TOTAL
£

Balance at 1 
anuar  1,118 – 60 666,529 4,748,978 – 5,416,685 – 5,416,685

Profit and total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
financial year – – – –  4,396,236 – 4,396,236 – 4,396,236

Transactions with 
owners        

Bonus shares 
issued 54,782 – –  – (54,782) – – – –

Cancellation of 
shares in Parent 
Company (3,641) – 3,641 – – – – – –

Shares issued on 
listing 13,265 12,986,735  – – – – 13,000,000 – 13,000,000

Costs of issue of 
equity shares – (748,784)  – – – – (748,784) – (748,784)

Dividends paid – – – – (491,430) – (491,430) – (491,430)

Share–based 
payments  – – –  – 482,372 – 482,372 – 482,372

Balance at  
31 December 2017 65,524 12,237,951 3,701 666,529  9,081,374 – 22,055,079 – 22,055,079

Profit for the year – – – – 7,392,681 10,087 7,402,768 428,016 7,830,784

Transactions with 
owners

Shares issued on 
vesting of share 
option scheme 1,131 – – – (1,131) – – – –

Issue of shares to 
non–controlling 
interests in 
subsidiary 
undertakings – – – – – – – 1,253,406 1,253,406

Share–based 
payments – – – – 296,072 – 296,072 – 296,072

Shares issued on 
placing 6,437 19,948,895 – – – – 19,955,332 – 19,955,332

Cost of shares 
issued on placing – (798,993) – – – – (798,993) – (798,993)

Dividends paid – – – – (1,766,350) – (1,766,350) (119,000) (1,885,350)

Balance at  
31 December 2018 73,092 31,387,853 3,701 666,529 15,002,646 10,087 47,143,908 1,562,422 48,706,330
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1.  GENERAL INFORMATION

Alpha FX Group plc, (the ‘Company’) is a public limited company having listed its shares on AIM, a market operated by 
The London Stock Exchange, on 7 April 2017. The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the UK (registered number 
07262416) and its registered office is 2 Eastbourne Terrace, London, W2 6LG. The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the results of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings, Alpha FX Limited, Alpha FX Institutional Limited and 
Alpha Foreign Exchange (Canada) Limited. 

The Group’s principal activity is the provision of foreign exchange services for corporates and institutions exposed to currency 
market volatility. Activities range from initial design and implementation of hedging strategies, on-going management and 
monitoring of currency risks and the provision of technology solutions.

The principal accounting policies adopted by the Group are set out in note 2.

2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”). 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by IFRS for each type of 
asset, liability or expense. The detailed measurement bases and principal accounting policies of the Group are set out below. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (“£”) except when otherwise indicated. The principal 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below and have been 
applied consistently throughout all periods presented.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed at the end of this section.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for the measurement of certain 
financial instruments.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

han es in accountin  policies
a. New standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2018 

New standards impacting the Group that have been adopted in the annual financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2018, and which have given rise to changes in the Group’s accounting policies are:

 − IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9); and
 − IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15)

Details of the impact these two standards have had are provided below.  The details of other new and amended standards and 
interpretations issued by the IASB that will apply for the first time in the next annual financial statements are set out below. 

b. New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective

IFRS 16 Leases 
Adoption of IFRS 16 will result in the Group recognising right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all contracts that are, or 
contain, a lease. For leases currently classified as operating leases, under current accounting requirements the Group does 
not recognise related assets or liabilities, and instead spreads the lease payments on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term, disclosing in its annual financial statements the total commitment. The Board has decided it will apply the modified 
retrospective adoption method in IFRS 16, and, therefore, will only recognise leases on balance sheet as at 1 anuary 2019. 
In addition, it has decided to measure right-of-use assets by reference to the measurement of the lease liability on that date. 
This will ensure there is no immediate impact to net assets on that date.

At 31 December 2018 operating lease commitments amounted to £13.2 million (see note 25). This included the commitment 
in respect of a lease signed in November 2018 for new premises for its Head Office which the Group expects to occupy in 
mid-2019 for which IFRS 16 will apply, together with short-term leases for premises occupied at 31 December 2018 for which 
IFRS16 will have no impact. Following the adoption of IFRS 16 on 1 anuary 2019, it is anticipated that there will be a significant 
impact on the balance sheet with the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately £8.2 million.

Basis of consolidation
i. Subsidiaries
Where the Company has control over an investee, it is classified as a subsidiary. The Company controls an investee if all three 
of the following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure to variable returns from the investee, and the ability 
of the investor to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances 
indicate that there may be a change in any elements of control.

ii. Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intragroup balances, and any gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial information. 

iii. Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity 
therein. Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination 
and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. In accordance with IAS 27, the Group 
recognises any non-controlling interest at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets on a 
transaction by transaction basis.

The Group treats transactions with the non-controlling interest as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For 
purchases from non-controlling interests the difference between the fair value of consideration paid and the relevant share of 
net assets acquired is recorded in equity.
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2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES [CONT.]

e ment reportin
In accordance with IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’, an operating segment is defined as a business activity whose operating 
results are reviewed by the chief operating decision maker and for which discrete information is available.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal management reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments is identified as the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and 
Chief Finance Officer.

oin  concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and for at least one year from the approval date of the financial 
statements. For these reasons, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group’s financial statements.

e enue
Spot and forward revenue is recognised when a binding contract is entered into by a client and the rate is fixed and 
determined. Revenue represents the difference between the rate offered to clients and the rate the Group receives from its 
banking counterparties. Options revenue is recognised when a binding contract is entered into by a client and the revenue is 
fixed and determined. 

Revenue represents the difference between the premiums offered to clients and the premium the Group receives from its 
banking counterparties. 

When the Group enters into a contract with a client, it immediately enters into a separate matched contract with its 
banking counterparty.

IFRS15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers was adopted by the Group on 1 anuary 2018. The Group’s revenue is derived 
from financial instruments and there has been no impact on the consolidated statement of financial position or statement of 
comprehensive income.

orei n currenc  translation
The Group’s consolidated historical financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the functional currency of the parent.

Transactions and balances 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group entities at the functional currency rates prevailing at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the statement of comprehensive income. 

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items is 
recognised in line with the gain or loss of the item that gave rise to the translation difference (translation differences on items 
whose gain, or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or profit or loss respectively).

Group companies
The results and financial position of Group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

 − assets and liabilities at each period end are translated at the prevailing closing rate at the date of the consolidated 
statement of financial position;

 − income and expenses for each period within the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are translated at the 
average rate for the period, and;

 − on consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities are recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve as a separate component of equity.

All intragroup transactions, balances, income, expenses and dividends are eliminated on consolidation.

inancial instruments 
The Group adopted IFRS 9 on 1 anuary 2018 and elected not to restate the comparative figures as permitted under the 
standard. Any changes have been processed at the date of the initial application and are recognised in the opening equity 
balances. The below policies are applicable to the financial instruments recognised for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Financial Assets 
The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the categories discussed below, depending on the purpose for which the 
asset was acquired. Other than financial assets in a qualifying hedging relationship, the Group’s accounting policy for each 
category is as follows:

Fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises in-the-money derivatives and out-of-money derivatives where the time value offsets the negative 
intrinsic value (see “Financial liabilities” section for out-of-money derivatives classified as liabilities). They are carried in 
the statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income in the finance income or expense line. Other than derivative financial instruments which are not 
designated as hedging instruments, the Group does not have any assets held for trading nor does it voluntarily classify any 
financial assets as being at fair value through profit or loss.

Amortised cost
These assets arise principally from financial assets where the objective is to hold these assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. They are initially recognised at 
fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue and are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.

Impairment provisions for loans to related parties are recognised based on a forward looking expected credit loss model. The 
methodology used to determine the amount of the provision is based on whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. For those where the credit risk has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition of the financial asset, twelve month expected credit losses along with gross interest income are recognised. 
For those for which credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime expected credit losses along with the gross interest income 
are recognised. For those that are determined to be credit impaired, lifetime expected credit losses along with interest 
income on a net basis are recognised. The Group has considered whether amounts due from loans to related parties are 
impaired and conclude that there is an immaterial impact on the financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

   7574

ALPHA FX GROUP PLC  ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FY2018



2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES [CONT.]

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise other receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

There are no changes to the accounting policies in respects of financial liabilities as a result of the adoption of IFRS 9. These 
policies are set out in the note below.

The financial instrument accounting policies below are applicable to the prior year comparative figures.

Financial instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements into which the Group enters. 
An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets to the entity after deduction all of its 
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities
Classification
The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. All financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, carried at amortised cost including directly attributable 
transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include derivative financial liabilities, overdrafts, trade and other payables, 
and loans received from shareholders.

De-recognition of liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Offsetting financial instruments
When there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or 
realise the asset and settle the liability immediately, financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in 
the balance sheet.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial assets are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and liabilities when their fair value is negative. 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The Group’s 
derivative financial assets and liabilities at fair value through income statement comprise of forward foreign exchange 
contracts and options.

The Group undertakes matched principal broking involving simultaneous back-to-back derivative transactions with 
counterparties. These transactions are classified as financial instruments at fair value through the income statement and 
are shown gross, except where a netting agreement, which is legally enforceable, exists and the intention is for the asset and 
liability to be settled net. 

The credit valuation adjustment (“CVA”) reflects the credit risk of the counterparties inherent in the valuation of the derivative 
financial instruments. The adjustment represents the estimated fair value of protection required to hedge the counterparty 
credit risk. The adjustment takes into account counterparty exposure, applicable collateral arrangement and default 
probability rates.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits held at call with banks. For the purposes of the consolidated 
cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts.

Other payables
Other payables are initially stated at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 
business. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due in one year or less. If payment is due at a later date, they 
are presented as non-current liabilities.

air alue
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate to the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value 
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

 − Level 1 quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
 − Level 2 valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly 

or indirectly observable
 − Level 3 valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the inputs into the valuations and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Taxes
Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income is recognised in equity and 
not in the statement of comprehensive income.

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority.
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2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES [CONT.]

mplo ee benefits
Pension obligations
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme for employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately 
from those of the Group. The annual contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
Discretionary contributions are occasionally made to Director’s defined benefit pension plans. 

Share-based payments 
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees of the Group through the Growth Share 
Schemes, Approved and Unapproved Options Schemes.

Equity-settled share-based schemes are measured at fair value, excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions, 
at the date of grant using an appropriate option pricing model. The Growth Shares Schemes have been valued using a 
Monte Carlo Simulation Approach due to the existence of market-based conditions. Non-market-based conditions exist over 
revenue-based targets which require management to estimate the probability of meeting these conditions. The Approved and 
Unapproved Options Schemes have been valued using a Black Scholes option pricing model as only a service-based condition 
exists. Both schemes require the estimation of appropriate attrition rates to estimate the number of share options which are 
likely to vest.

The fair value of the shares or share options is recognised over the vesting period to reflect the value of the employee services 
received. The charge relating to grants to employees of the Company is recognised as an expense in the income statement.

ropert  plant and e uipment
Owned assets
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of each item of property, plant and equipment. Estimated residual values are included in the calculation of 
depreciation. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Improvements to property - Period of lease

Fixtures and fittings - 4 to 5 years straight line

Computer equipment - 3 years straight line

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed by the Directors and adjusted if appropriate at the end of each reporting 
period.

ntan ible assets
Intangible assets consist of internally developed software. Development expenditure on an individual project is recognised as 
an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate:

 − The technical feasibility of completing the development
 − That it will be available for use or sale
 − Its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset
 − How the asset will generate future economic benefits
 − The availability of resources to complete the development
 − The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins 
when development is complete, and the asset is available for use.

Internally developed software costs are amortised over the useful life of the asset on a straight-line basis over 3 years being 
the period of expected future benefit. Amortisation is recorded in operating expenses.

During the period of development, the asset is tested annually for impairment.

mpairment of non financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in share 
premium as a deduction from the proceeds.

peratin  leases
The costs associated with operating leases are taken to the statement of comprehensive income on an accruals basis over 
the period of the lease. Rental payable under operating leases is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The benefit of lease incentives is spread on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that 
the Group will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are measured based on the Directors’ best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted to present value where the effect 
is material.

An onerous property provision is recognised and measured as a provision when the Group has a present obligation arising 
under a property related contract. An onerous contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the 
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make estimates, judgements and assumptions 
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the assets or liability affected in the future.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. In the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies, management has made the following judgements and estimates which have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS [CONT.]

Estimates
Impairment of financial assets
Impairment provisions are recognised when there is objective evidence that the Group will be unable to collect all the 
amounts due under the terms receivable, the amount of such a provision being the difference between the net carrying 
amount and the present value of the future expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable. In order to calculate 
the present value of the future expected cash flows, management must make an estimate of expected future cash flows and 
apply an appropriate discount factor, estimated using the latest market information.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive Income.

ud ements
Development costs
Development costs that are directly attributable to the development of a project are capitalised based on management’s 
assessment of the likelihood of a successful outcome for each project. This is based on the management’s judgement that the 
project is technologically, commercially and economically feasible in accordance with IAS 38 Intangible Assets. In determining 
the amount to be capitalised, management makes assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the project, 
discount rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. Details of capitalised development costs are shown in note 11.

Onerous lease
As described in note 2 (provisions), onerous lease provisions are recognised for estimated losses on leases where the 
forecast costs of fulfilling the lease throughout the contracted period exceed the forecast income receivable. The provision is 
calculated based on present value of the estimated obligations under a lease where the unavoidable costs of the lease exceed 
the economic benefit expected to be received from it. 

Credit value adjustment
The credit value adjustment has been calculated by management based on the assumption that the Group will be unable to 
collect all the amounts due under the terms receivable, and therefore, is a method of counterparty credit risk management. 
The amount of the adjustment represents the difference between the net carrying amount and the value of the future 
expected cash flows associated with the receivables. In order to calculate expected future cash flows, management make an 
estimate using the latest real-time market information, risk ratings of the clients and experience. 

Share-based payments
As described in note 2 (share-based payments), equity settled share awards are recognised as an expense based on their fair 
value at date of grant. The fair value of equity settled growth shares scheme and unapproved share options are estimated 
through the use of option valuation models which require an element of judgement in assessing the inputs. udgement is also 
exercised in assessing the number of options subjects to non-market vesting conditions that will vest.

4.  SEGMENTAL REPORTING

During the year the Group generated revenue from the sale of forward currency contracts, foreign exchange spot transactions 
and option contracts. 

The Group has two reportable segments, based on the type of clients, Corporate and Institutional. Revenue from Corporate 
clients represents the revenue generated by Alpha FX Limited and Alpha Foreign Exchange (Canada) Limited, whilst revenue 
from Institutional clients represents revenue from Alpha FX Institutional Limited.

The profit before taxation for the Corporate segment includes £317,082 for losses relating to Alpha Foreign Exchange 
(Canada) Limited which was incorporated in October 2018. 

The chief operating decision makers, being the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer, monitor the operating results of the business segments separately each month. Key measures used to evaluate 
performance are revenue and profit before taxation. Management believe that these measures are the most relevant in 
evaluating the performance of the segment and for making resource allocation decisions.

CORPORATE INSTITUTIONAL TOTAL

REVENUE

31 DECEMBER 
2018

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017

£

31 DECEMBER 
2018

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017

£

31 DECEMBER 
2018

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017

£

Foreign exchange spot transactions  2,156,518 1,251,568  326,482 – 2,483,000  1,251,568 

Foreign currency
forward contracts  17,136,392  12,112,099  2,727,455 – 19,863,847 12,112,099 

Option contracts  1,109,002  179,465  18,860 – 1,127,862  179,465 

otal re enue 20,401,912  13,543,132  3,072,797 – 23,474,709 13,543,132

Profit before taxation 8,461,978  5,622,168 1,269,801 – 9,731,779 5,622,168 

GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

31 DECEMBER 
2018

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017

£

UK  599,299  321,745 

Canada  11,040 –

Total  610,339  321,745 

During the year the Group earned revenue of £16,337,837 (2017: £12,790,244) from entities in the UK, £2,061,667 (2017: 
nil) from entities in Norway, £1,606,374 (2017: nil) from entities in Cayman Islands, £836,620 (2017: nil) from entities in 
Netherlands, £592,184 (2017: £621,824) from entities in the British Virgin Islands and £2,040,027 (2017: £131,064) from 
entities in other countries.

There were no significant transactions between the segments within the year. All revenue is from external customers. 

5.  OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
31 DECEMBER 

2018 
£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Operating lease rentals 713,329 284,007

Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment 65,810 74,590

Amortisation of internally generated intangible assets 108,492 26,316

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 63,259 25,507

Staff costs (note 7) 9,091,872 5,128,058

Net foreign exchange gains (11,521) (56,002)

Provisions (note 22) 203,684 190,000

IPO costs – 612,873
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31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Audit fees

Audit fees in respect of the parent and consolidated financial statements 35,000 11,000

Audit fees in respect of the subsidiary accounts 52,500  30,000

Non-Audit fees

Corporate finance fees – 156,700

Other assurance services 7,200  9,500

Tax advisory – 1,950

6.  FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES
31 DECEMBER 

2018 
£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Finance income

Interest on bank deposits 37,201 25,110

Other interest receivable 1,853 –

39,054 25,110

Finance costs

Interest payable on loans and borrowings – 32,626

– 32,626

7.  EMPLOYEE COSTS

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, were as follows:
31 DECEMBER 

2018 
£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Wages and salaries 7,764,922 4,066,677

Social security costs 970,694 531,279

Share-based payment charge 311,864 511,332

Other pension costs 44,392 18,770

mplo ee benefit e pense included in operatin  profit 9,091,872 5,128,058

The share-based payment charge includes employer’s national insurance amounting to £15,792 (2017: £28,960) relating to an 
unapproved option scheme.

The average number of employees, including the executive directors, was as follows:
31 DECEMBER 

2018 
NO.

31 DECEMBER 
2017 
NO.

Executive Directors 3 2

Sales, administration and support staff 64 39

67 41

5.  OPERATING PROFIT [CONT.] emuneration of e  mana ement personnel

Key management personnel represent those personnel which hold a statutory directorship of a company within the Group, as 
well as the non-executive directors.

Director’s remuneration and benefits include:

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Wages and salaries 1,186,748 427,366

Social security costs 163,771 58,977

Share-based payments 41,664 130,322

Pension contributions 2,326 359

Total 1,394,509 617,024

During 2018 retirement benefits accrued to 4 directors (2017:1) in respect of defined contribution pension schemes.

Further information of executive and non-executive directors of the Group, including the highest paid director, is disclosed 
separately in the Remuneration report.

8.  TAXATION 

a  char e

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

urrent ta

UK Corporation tax charge on the profit for the year 1,960,130 1,244,693 

Adjustments relating to prior years (74,191) (7,854)

otal current ta 1,885,939 1,236,839 

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 25,143 (19,556)

Adjustments relating to prior years – 8,649

Total deferred tax 25,143 (10,907)

Total tax expense 1,911,082 1,225,932  
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8.  TAXATION [CONT.]

actors a ectin  ta  char e for the ear

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 9,731,779     5,622,168 

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the effective standard rate of 
UK corporation tax of 19% (2017: 19.25%) 1,849,038 1,082,267

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 97,424 183,010

Deferred tax relating to share based payments (19,454) (39,873)

Adjustments relating to prior years (74,191) 795

Adjust closing deferred tax in respect of change in future rate of taxation (2,166) (267)

Overseas taxation 60,431 –

otal ta  char e for the ear 1,911,082 1,225,932 

Deferred tax
The deferred taxation liability at a tax rate of 17% (2017: 19%) comprises the following:

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

iabilities assets

At 1 anuary (20,581) (31,488)

Tax (charge)/credit relating to current year (27,309) 19,556

Tax (charge) relating to change in future tax rates 2,166 (8,649)

Total deferred tax liability (45,724) (20,581)

The enactment of the Finance (No.2) Act 2015 and Finance Act 2016 reduced the main rate of corporation tax to 19% from 
April 2017 and further reduces the main rate to 17% from April 2020.

The provision for deferred taxation consists of the tax effect of timing differences in respect of:

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Fixed asset differences (100,854) (60,454)

Share-based payments 55,130 39,873

Total deferred tax liability (45,724) (20,581)

9.  EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent, by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year. Diluted earnings per share additionally includes in the 
calculation, the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of any dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

The Group additionally discloses an underlying earnings per share calculation that excludes the impact of the one-off 
costs relating to the IPO in 2017, share-based payments and their tax effect, which better enables comparison of financial 
performance in the current year with comparative years.

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

PENCE

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

PENCE

Underlying – basic 22.7p 17.5p

Underlying – diluted 22.1p 17.2p

Basic earnings per share 21.8p 14.2p

Diluted earnings per share 21.3p 13.9p

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following number of shares:

31 DECEMBER 
2018 
NO.

31 DECEMBER 
2017 
NO.

Basic weighted average shares 33,945,238 31,017,500 

Contingently issuable shares 795,913 566,714 

Diluted weighted average shares 34,741,151 31,584,214 

The earnings used in the calculation of basic, diluted and underlying earnings per share are set out below:

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Profit after tax for the year 7,820,697 4,396,236 

Non-controlling interests (428,016) –

Earnings – basic and diluted 7,392,681 4,396,236

Costs associated with the IPO – 612,873

Tax effect – (39,944)

Share-based payments 311,864 511,332

Deferred tax asset impact on share-based payments (15,257) (39,873)

Earnings – underlying 7,689,288 5,440,624
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12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

LEASEHOLD 
IMPROVEMENTS

£

FIXTURES & 
FITTINGS

£

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT

£
TOTAL

£

Cost     

At 1 anuary 2017 5,867 261,307 48,157 315,331

Additions 2,148 68,866 56,817 127,831

Disposals (8,015) (44,117) – (52,132)

At 31 December 2017 – 286,056 104,974 391,030

Additions – 35,855 69,040 104,895

Disposals – (181,201) – (181,201)

At 31 December 2018 – 140,710 174,014 314,724

Depreciation     

At 1 anuary 2017  2,302 110,292 33,446 146,040

Charge for the year 1,474 55,057 18,059 74,590

Disposals (3,776) (22,849) – (26,625)

At 31 December 2017 – 142,500 51,505 194,005

Charge for the year – 29,301 36,509 65,810

Disposals – (117,942) – (117,942)

At 31 December 2018 – 53,859 88,014 141,873

et boo  alue     

At 31 December 2017 – 143,556 53,469 197,025

At 31 December 2018 – 86,851 86,000 172,851

No assets were held under finance leases during the years ended 31 December 2018 or 31 December 2017. During the 
year assets totalling £181,201 (2017: 52,132) were disposed of. The total loss on disposal of fixed assets was £63,259 
(2017: £25,507).

13.  SUBSIDIARIES 

The Group’s operating subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are as follows:

NAME COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION
PROPORTION OF ORDINARY  
SHARES HELD

irect oldin

Alpha FX Limited England1 100%

ndirect oldin

Alpha FX Institutional Limited England1 63.2%

Alpha Foreign Exchange (Canada) Limited Canada2 75%

The principal activity of all subsidiary undertakings is the provision of foreign exchange services. Shares in Alpha FX 
Institutional Limited and Alpha Foreign Exchange (Canada) Limited are held by Alpha FX Limited. The accounting year ends of 
all subsidiaries is 31 December. 

Registered addresses:
1. 2 Eastbourne Terrace, Paddington, London, W2 6LG
2. 2200 HSBC Building, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver BC, V6C 3E8

10.  DIVIDENDS 

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 1.5p per share – 491,430

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 3.4p per share 1,133,130 –

Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 1.9p per share 633,220 –

1,766,350 491,430

All dividends paid are in respect of the ordinary shares of £0.002 each.

The Directors propose that a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 of 4.6p per share amounting 
to £1,681,115 will be paid on 15 May 2019 to all shareholders on the register of members on 12 April 2019. This dividend 
is subject to approval by shareholders at the AGM and has not been included as a liability in these Financial Statements in 
accordance with IAS 10 ‘Event after the reporting period’.

A reconciliation of the movements in share capital for each year is included in note 19.

11.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

INTERNALLY 
GENERATED 

SOFTWARE
£

Cost

At 1 anuary 2017 47,500

Additions 105,515

At 31 December 2017 153,015

Additions 421,260

At 31 December 2018 574,275

Amortisation

At 1 anuary 2017 1,979

Charge for the year 26,316

At 31 December 2017 28,295

Charge for year 108,492

At 31 December 2018 136,787

et boo  alue

At 31 December 2017 124,720

At 31 December 2018 437,488
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15.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The principal financial instruments of the Group, from which financial instrument risk arises, are as follows:

a  inancial assets per balance sheet
31 DECEMBER 

2018 
£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

eri ati es not desi nated as hed in  instruments

Foreign currency forward and option contracts with customers 28,649,374 16,522,153

Foreign currency forward and option contracts with banking counterparties 4,075,204 23,814

Other foreign exchange forward contracts – 4,529

otal deri ati es not desi nated as hed in  instruments 32,724,578 16,550,496

Amortised cost assets oans and recei ables

Other receivables excluding prepayments 1,427,331 168,224

Cash and cash equivalents 38,396,301 13,073,132

Other cash balances 2,562,538 1,571,475

Total loans and receivables 42,386,170 14,812,831

otal financial assets 75,110,750 31,363,327

b  inancial liabilities per balance sheet
31 DECEMBER 

2018 
£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

eri ati es not desi nated as hed in  instruments

Foreign currency forward and option contracts with customers 12,709,620 3,763,136

Foreign currency forward and option contracts with banking counterparties – 401,800

Other foreign exchange forward contracts 6,471 –

otal deri ati es not desi nated as hed in  instruments 12,716,091 4,164,936

ther pa ables measured at amortised cost

Other payables and accruals 12,506,732 4,406,745

Total other payables 12,506,732 4,406,745

nterest bearin  loans and borro in s measured at amortised cost

Shareholder loans – –

Bank overdrafts – –

otal interest bearin  loans and borro in s – –

otal financial liabilities 25,222,823 8,571,681

c  settin  financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss represent simultaneous back-to-back derivative transactions with 
banking counterparties and are reported as separate financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial 
position. The transactions are subject to ISDA (International Swaps and Derivatives Association) Master Netting Agreements 
which provide a legally enforceable right of in the normal course of business, the event of a default and the event of 
insolvency or bankruptcy.

14.  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS NOT DESIGNATED  
AS HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

FAIR VALUE
£

NOTIONAL 
PRINCIPAL

£
FAIR VALUE

£

NOTIONAL 
PRINCIPAL

£

Foreign currency forward and option contracts with customers 28,649,374 773,013,132 16,522,153 476,489,449

Foreign currency forward and option contracts with banking 
counterparties 4,075,204 273,831,873 23,814 7,928,174

Other foreign exchange forward contracts – – 4,529 1,900,442

32,724,578 1,046,845,005 16,550,496 486,318,065

Foreign currency forward contracts with customers generally require immediate settlement on the value date of the 
individual contract.

31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES NOT DESIGNATED  
AS HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

FAIR VALUE
£

NOTIONAL 
PRINCIPAL

£
FAIR VALUE

£

NOTIONAL 
PRINCIPAL

£

Foreign currency forward and option contracts with customers 12,709,620 719,218,696 3,763,136 181,899,686

Foreign currency forward and option contracts with banking 
counterparties – – 401,800 97,688,207

Other foreign exchange forward contracts 6,471 3,920,055 – –

12,716,091 723,138,751 4,164,936 279,587,893

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments are intended to reduce the level of foreign currency risk for expected 
future cash flows. The tables above show the fair value of those foreign exchange forward contracts as at each year-end.

Forward foreign exchange contracts and options fall into level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as set out in note 2. Level 2 
comprises those financial instruments which can be valued using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the 
asset or liability either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). The fair value of forward foreign exchange 
contracts is measured using observable forward exchange rates for contracts with a similar maturity at the reporting date. 
The fair value of option foreign exchange contracts is measured using an industry standard external model that best presents 
the unpublished interbank valuations.

There were no transfers between level 1 and 2 during the current or prior year.
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i uidit  
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk, namely that it may be unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due. 
Extensive controls are in place to ensure that this liquidity risk is mitigated. The Group’s liquidity requirements are reviewed 
daily, and the Group employs stress testing to model the sufficiency of its liquidity in stressed market scenarios. The ability 
of clients to pay margin and settle contracts is monitored in real-time, with automated triggers and alerts configured into the 
Group’s systems. The Group maintains cash reserves and continues to increase these reserves relative to its trading activity 
on an on-going basis.

It is the Board’s responsibility to set appropriate limits to the liquidity risk of the Group, as well as ensuring that a strong 
system of internal controls is implemented and enforced.  The daily management of liquidity risk rests with the Head of 
Liquidity (overseen by the Chief Operating Officer). The Group manages its liquidity on a trade by trade basis, rejecting any 
trade that has the potential to harm its liquidity and maintains robust margin terms with its clients that require them to 
deposit margin if their forward contracts adversely deviate in fair value. The Group also attempts to ensure it maintains 
(as closely as is possible) a balanced position in each currency, with regular stress testing of its net long/short position in a 
particular currency against sudden and unforeseen market movements (“Black Swan Events”).

The Head of Liquidity is responsible for implementing and monitoring the relevant controls and for providing the Chief 
Operating Officer with timely and accurate reporting on the Group’s liquidity position. In conjunction with the Chief Financial 
Officer, they are also responsible for ensuring the Group has sufficient capital and liquidity resources to meet its liabilities as 
they fall due and to support its growth and strategic objectives.

The Group has sufficient cash resources to pay its debts and contractual liabilities as they fall due. Consequently, 
management does not believe that the Group has a material exposure to liquidity risk.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s derivative financial liabilities arising from forward currency 
contracts with customers based on contractual (undiscounted) payments.

eri ati e liabilities  for ard currenc  contracts ith customers 

2018
TOTAL

£
0-3 MONTHS

£
3-6 MONTHS

£
6-12 MONTHS

£
12 MONTHS+

£

Buy currency Inflow 664,337,176 298,028,921 147,472,774 185,401,717 33,433,764

Sell currency    Outflow (653,934,875) (269,322,242) (195,844,129) (124,115,889) (64,652,615)

Netted 10,402,301 28,706,679 (48,371,355) 61,285,828 (31,218,851)

2017
TOTAL

£
0-3 MONTHS

£
3-6 MONTHS

£
6-12 MONTHS

£
12 MONTHS+

£

Buy currency Inflow 389,594,217 154,881,032 107,206,528 121,759,466 5,745,293 

Sell currency    Outflow (226,686,829) (57,865,893) (57,010,126) (66,859,416) (44,951,393) 

Netted 162,907,388 97,015,139 50,196,402 54,900,050 (39,206,100) 

eri ati e liabilities  for ard currenc  contracts ith bro ers

TOTAL
£

0-3 MONTHS
£

3-6 MONTHS
£

6-12 MONTHS
£

12 MONTHS+
£

2018 Netted 5,485,479 (23,780,947) 52,157,750 (56,545,924) 33,654,601

2017 Netted (153,174,015) (94,359,755) (48,398,416) (52,078,606) (41,662,761)

15.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS [CONT.]

AMOUNTS SUBJECT TO ENFORCEABLE NETTING ARRANGEMENTS

2018

GROSS FAIR 
VALUE 

£

VARIATION 
MARGIN OFFSET 

£

FAIR VALUE 
OFFSET 

£

NET DERIVATIVE 
FINANCIAL ASSET/

(LIABILITY) (NOTE 14) 
£

OTHER
CASH

BALANCES 
£

Derivative financial assets  47,831,481 – (15,106,903) 32,724,578 2,562,538

Derivative financial liabilities (31,361,581) 3,538,587 15,106,903 –

AMOUNTS SUBJECT TO ENFORCEABLE NETTING ARRANGEMENTS

2017

GROSS FAIR 
VALUE 

£

VARIATION 
MARGIN OFFSET 

£

FAIR VALUE 
OFFSET 

£

NET DERIVATIVE 
FINANCIAL ASSET/

(LIABILITY) (NOTE 14) 
£

OTHER
CASH

BALANCES 
£

Derivative financial assets 22,618,131 – (6,067,635) 16,550,496 1,571,475

Derivative financial liabilities (13,749,382) 3,516,811 6,067,635 –

16.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Ob ectives  policies and processes for managing risk and the methods used to measure the risk
Financial assets principally comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other cash balances and 
derivative financial assets. Financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables, shareholder loans and derivative financial 
liabilities. The main risks arising from financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk, foreign currency risk and 
interest rate risk each of which are discussed in further detail below.

The Group monitors and mitigates financial risk on a consolidated basis. The Group has implemented a framework to 
ensure that the Directors have in place risk management practices appropriate to a listed company. The Group has a robust 
‘three-lines of defence’ risk and compliance framework covering all operational and compliance activities.  This framework 
is overseen and enforced by the Chief Operating Officer. As part of this framework the Group has a Risk Committee that 
convenes on a monthly basis.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one or more customer will not meet their obligations under a financial instrument or customer 
contract leading to a financial loss. There are no significant concentrations of client credit risk within the Group. The maximum 
credit risk exposure relating to financial assets arises from derivative financial instruments, represented by the carrying value as 
at the balance sheet date. The Group evaluated the concentration of risk as low with respect to derivative financial assets arising 
from contracts with counterparties. This is due to the fact that no single customer represents a significant proportion of the total 
value of customer contracts and the business has historically low levels of counterparty default.

Where the Group provides credit to customers, this is subject to credit verification checks. The Group’s customers 
are reviewed at least annually and are subject to an on-going credit review process by the Risk and Compliance team. 
Counterparty exposures are monitored in real time. Daily stress tests are carried out to assess and minimise client credit 
risk exposures under various market volatility scenarios. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is illustrated in the 
financial assets table in note 15.

ar et ris
Market risk is minimised by the operation of matched derivative transactions, whereby derivatives sold to customers are 
matched on a back-to-back basis with an offsetting derivative from a banking counterparty. The Group is only exposed to the 
net position of its derivative assets and liabilities and this position is collateralised on a daily basis.
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The table below shows the impact on the Group’s operating profit, which is a key metric of the Group, of a 10% change in the 
exchange rate of the principal currencies, Euro and US Dollar. 

IMPACT ON OPERATING PROFIT

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2018 

£
2017 

£

uro

Average rate 1.1286 1.1301

Closing rate 1.1138 1.1249

10% weakening in the £/  exchange rate 963,841 324,283

10% strengthening in the £/  exchange rate (788,597) (265,322)

US Dollar:

Average rate 1.3322 1.2886

Closing rate 1.2736 1.2759

10% weakening in the £/  exchange rate 401,176 60,977

10% strengthening in the £/  exchange rate (328,235) (49,891)

The impact of a change of 10% has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level of exchange rates 
and the volatility observed both on a historical basis and market expectations for future movement. 

ana ement of capital
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to maximise shareholder value whilst safeguarding the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.

The Group’s policy is to maintain a capital base and funding structure that maintains creditor, regulator and market 
confidence and provides flexibility for business development whilst also optimising returns to shareholders.

The entity monitors its total capital as its total equity as shown in the statement of financial position. In order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue new shares or adjust the dividends paid to shareholders.

17.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Trade receivables (derivative financial assets – note 14) 32,724,578 16,550,496

Other receivables 1,427,331 168,224

Prepayments 310,702 105,791

 34,462,611 16,824,511

Trade receivables represent the fair value of derivative financial assets arising as a result of matched principal transactions 
(note 14).  At 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the receivables are shown net of the Credit Value Adjustment.

16.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT [CONT.]

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s other financial liabilities based on contractual 
(undiscounted) payments.

Other liabilities

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
TOTAL

£
ON DEMAND

£
UP TO 1 YEAR

£
1-2 YEARS

£
2-5 YEARS

£

Other payables and accruals 13,336,083 – 13,336,083 – –

13,336,083 – 13,336,083 – –

AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
TOTAL

£
ON DEMAND

£
UP TO 1 YEAR

£
1-2 YEARS

£
2-5 YEARS

£

Other payables and accruals 4,665,575 – 4,665,575 – –

4,665,575 – 4,665,575 – –

nterest rate ris  
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial assets and liabilities used by the 
Group. Interest bearing assets comprise cash and cash equivalents which are considered to be short-term liquid assets. It is the 
Group’s policy to settle derivative financial liabilities arising from contracts with customers (included within trade payables) and 
other payables within the credit terms allowed and the Group does not therefore incur interest on overdue balances.

orei n currenc  ris
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that non-sterling revenue earned on a transaction may fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
currency rates. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on revenue and cash holdings that are denominated in a currency 
other than sterling. The principal currencies giving rise to this risk vary from period to period depending on the currency of 
transactions undertaken by the Group. Details of the foreign currency cash balances can be found in note 18.

The Group manages its exposure to currency movements in line with its Treasury Policy. Client money received in a foreign 
currency is deposited in a bank account of the same currency to provide a natural hedge. The Group reduces its exposure 
to foreign exchange by retranslating excess cash in foreign currencies into sterling on a regular basis. The Group hedges a 
proportion of its unrealised profits through foreign exchange contracts designated as fair value through profit and loss.

The Group’s policy is to reduce the risk associated with the revenue denominated in foreign currencies by using forward fixed 
rate currency hedges.

The settlement of these forward foreign exchange contracts is expected to occur within the following twelve months. Changes 
in the fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts are recognised directly in profit or loss.

orei n currenc  ris   sensiti it  anal sis
The Group’s principal recurring foreign currency transactions are in Euros and US Dollar. Foreign currency transactions 
that occur in other currencies including Canadian Dollar and Norwegian Krone, are for shorter periods of time, resulting in 
minimal risk to the business. The impact of transactions in Canadian Dollars is likely to be of more significance in 2019 due to 
the newly incorporated subsidiary.
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NUMBER OF SHARES
A 

SHARES
B

 SHARES
C

 SHARES 
D 

SHARES
ORDINARY 

SHARES
DEFERRED 

SHARES TOTAL

At 1 Jan 2017 860 118 31 109 – – 1,118

Bonus issue 42,140 5,782 1,519 5,341 – – 54,782

 43,000 5,900  1,550   5,450 – – 55,900

Conversion to £0.002 each 21,500,000 2,950,000 775,000 2,725,000 – – 27,950,000

Re-designation (21,500,000) (2,950,000) (775,000) (2,725,000) 26,129,326 1,820,674 –

Cancellation of shares – – – – – (1,820,674) (1,820,674)

Issue of new shares on IPO – – – – 6,632,653 – 6,632,653

At 31 Dec 2017 – – – – 32,761,979 – 32,761,979

Shares issued on vesting of share 
option scheme – – – – 565,387 – 565,387

Shares issued on placing – – – – 3,218,602 – 3,218,602

At 31 Dec 2018 – – – – 36,545,968 – 36,545,968

The following movements of share capital occurred during the year ended 31 December 2018:

On 26 March 2018, the Company issued 565,387 new shares following the vesting of shares under the B Growth Share Scheme.

On 3 October 2018, the Company issued 3,218,602 new shares following a placing.

The following movements of share capital occurred during the year ended 31 December 2017:

On 24 March 2017, a bonus issues of shares were made for all A, B, C and D shares of 49 additional shares for each share 
held. On the same date, all shares were converted from ordinary shares of £1 each to ordinary shares of £0.002 each.

On 31 March 2017, all the A and B shares were converted into ordinary shares, the C shares were converted into 371,851 
ordinary shares and 403,149 deferred shares and the D shares were converted into 1,307,475 ordinary shares and 1,417,525 
deferred shares. On the same date, the 1,820,674 deferred shares were cancelled.

On 7 April 2017, the Company issued 6,632,653 new shares upon admission to the London Stock Exchange.

Share premium account
In the year ended 31 December 2017 the share premium account of £12,237,951 arose on the issue of new shares on 7 April 
2017 upon admission to the London Stock Exchange, amounting to £13,000,000, less the directly attributable costs of issuing 
of the new equity, amounting to £748,784 and the nominal value of the share capital of £13,265. 

In the year ended 31 December 2018 the share premium account increased by £19,149,902 as a result of a placing on 
3 October 2018 of £19,948,895, less the directly attributable costs of issuing the new equity, amounting to £798,993.

Capital redemption reserve
The reserve of £3,701 arose following the buy-back of shares in prior years.

Merger reserve
The merger reserve was created in October 2016 as a result of the share for share exchange with non-controlling interests. 
The merger relief reserve represents the difference between the fair value and nominal value of shares issued on the 
acquisition of non-controlling interests, where the Company has taken advantage of merger relief.

Retained earnings
Represents all other net gains and losses and transactions not recognised elsewhere.

18.  CASH

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits held at call with banks.

Other cash balances comprise cash held as collateral with banking counterparties for which the Group does not have 
immediate access.

Cash balances included within derivative financial assets relate to the variation margin called against out of the money trades 
with banking counterparties. 

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Cash and cash equivalents 38,396,301 13,073,132

Variation margin called by counterparties (note 15c) 3,538,587 3,516,811

Other cash balances 2,562,538 1,571,475

Total cash 44,497,426 18,161,418

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates and is made up of the following 
currency balances:

31 DECEMBER
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER
2017 

£

British Pound 32,342,702 15,197,409

Euro 2,935,909 2,346,492

US Dollar 1,760,861 514,290

South African Rand 1,264,967 102

Norwegian Krone 5,555,546 423

Other currencies 637,441 102,702

44,497,426 18,161,418

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates to their fair value.

All changes in financial liabilities arising from financing activities are due to cash flow movements and are shown in the 
consolidated cash flow statement within cash flow from financing activities.

19.  CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Share capital
AS AT 31 DECEMBER  

2018
AS AT 31 DECEMBER  

2017

NUMBER £ NUMBER £

Authorised, issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares of £0.002 each 36,545,968 73,092 32,761,979 65,524

36,545,968 73,092 32,761,979 65,524
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20.  NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As described in note 13, Alpha FX Limited has two subsidiary undertakings, Alpha FX Institutional Limited in which it 
owns 63.2% and Alpha Foreign Exchange (Canada) Limited in which it owns 75%. The balance of the shares are owned by 
non-controlling interests (NCI’s). The summarised financial information is before intra-group eliminations. The summarised 
financial information for Alpha FX Institutional Limited and Alpha Foreign Exchange (Canada) Limited has been aggregated 
since the entities have similar characteristics, largely based on the nature of their activities and the sector in which 
they operate.

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Revenue 3,108,910 –

Profit before tax 1,395,165 –

Profit allocated to non-controlling interests 428,016 –

Total comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interests 428,016 –

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (119,000) –

At 1 December

Assets

Non-current assets 29,287 –

Current assets 1,968,073 –

Liabilities

Current liabilities (687,544) –

Accumulated balance owed to non-controlling interests 1,562,422 –

21.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

Trade payables (derivative financial liabilities – note 14) 12,716,091 4,164,936

Other payables 11,412,369 4,036,101

Other taxation and social security 829,351 258,830

Accruals and deferred income 1,094,363 370,644

26,052,174 8,830,511

Trade payables represent the fair value of derivative financial liabilities arising as a result of matched principal transactions 
(note 14).

Other payables consist of margin received from clients and client held funds. The carrying value of trade and other payables 
classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, approximates fair value.

22.  PROVISIONS

ONEROUS LEASE PROVISION

31 DECEMBER 
2018 

£

31 DECEMBER 
2017 

£

At 1 anuary 190,000 –

Increase in provision 203,684 190,000

Utilised in year (194,621) –

At 1 December 199,063 190,000

Analysis:

Current 43,350 110,000

Non-current 155,713 80,000

199,063 190,000

The onerous lease provision represents the present value of the estimated obligations under a lease where the unavoidable 
costs of the lease exceed the economic benefit expected to be received from it.

23.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Parent Company of the Group is Alpha FX Group plc. Note 13 provides information about the subsidiaries and the holding 
company. Details of the ultimate controlling party can be found in note 26.

The Group considers its key management personnel to be the Directors of companies within the Group. The compensation of 
the Directors of the Company, together with their shareholding, is included in the Remuneration Report.

Transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Alpha FX Limited traded foreign currency contracts with C I Kahn on normal commercial terms, amounting to £22,899 (2017: 
£24,431), none of which were open at the year end. 

A loan of £304,000 due from Alpha FX Limited to the Tillbrook Pension Scheme, a scheme in which M  Tillbrook and 
M P Tillbrook are trustees, was repaid in the year ended 31 December 2017. The loan was subject to interest charged annually 
at 1.5% and interest payments of £nil (2017: £5,090) were made on this loan during the year.

A loan of £500,000 from M P Tillbrook was repaid in the year ended 31 December 2017. Interest was charged annually at 5% 
and interest payments of £nil (2017: £8,151) were made on this loan during the year.

In the year ended 31 December 2017, M  Tillbrook made a loan to Alpha FX Limited of £400,000 (2018: £nil). The balance was 
repaid in full together with interest at 5% of £14,575 before 31 December 2017.
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Based on share price of the Company of 565p at 31 December 2018, if all C Shareholders exercise the put options in respect 
of the year ended 31 December 2018, it is estimated that the Company will issue 19,075 shares.

The share-based payment charge of the C Growth Shares awarded during the year ended 31 December 2018 was £150,178 
(2017: £nil).

Details of the share awards outstanding in respect of the above schemes are as follows:
31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

B GROWTH
SHARE SCHEME

£

C GROWTH
SHARE SCHEME

£

B GROWTH
SHARE SCHEME

£

C GROWTH
SHARE SCHEME 

£

Outstanding at beginning of year 2,073 – – –

Granted in the year – 863 2,073 –

Exercised in the year (390) – – –

Forfeited in the year (180) – – –

Outstanding at end of year 1,503 863 2,073 –

The fair value of the Growth Share Schemes was calculated using a Monte-Carlo simulation model. The model considers historical 
and expected dividends, and the share price volatility of the Group relative to that of its competitors, to predict the share 
performance. When determining the grant date fair value of awards, service and non-market performance conditions are not 
considered. However, the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of 
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. 

The inputs used for fair valuing the awards granted during the year were as follows:

31 DECEMBER 2018 
C GROWTH 

SHARE SCHEME

31 DECEMBER 2017 
B GROWTH 

SHARE SCHEME

Expected volatility % 25.0% 25.0%

Risk free interest rate % 0.75% 0.09%

Option life (years) 5 3

Starting equity value (£m) £186.6m £33.6m

a e As ou arn A  scheme
In December 2018 the Group announced that it had launched a scheme for all employees under which they are granted an 
option to purchase ordinary shares in the Group under a HMRC-approved SA E scheme. Options are granted at a 20% discount 
to the market price of the shares on the day preceding the date of offer and are linked to a savings contract with a term of 
three years. These funds are used to fund the option exercise. No performance criteria are applied to the exercise of Sharesave 
options. The assumptions used in the measurement of the fair value at grant date of the Sharesave plans are as follows:

31 DECEMBER
2018

Share price at date of grant 578p

Exercise price at date of grant 520p

Expected volatility % 25%

Risk free interest rate % 0.75%

Option life (years) 3

Dividend yield % 0.7%

24.  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby 
employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). 

 ro th hare cheme
Under the B Growth Share Scheme, selected employees of the Group have been issued with B shares in Alpha FX Limited. The 
rights attaching to the B shares include a put option which, when exercised, enable the shareholder to convert the B shares 
into ordinary shares of the Company. The rate of conversion is that the B shares will be regarded as worth a pro rata share 
of the gain above a specific hurdle set at £25m. The B shares vests in 5 equal annual instalments from 31 December 2017 to 
31 December 2021. Vesting requires 30% revenue growth per annum for the first three years and 20% revenue growth per 
annum in years four and five. Conversion each year is following the publication of the audited financial statements of Alpha 
FX Limited. The share options granted will not vest if performance conditions are not met.

Providing the vesting conditions have been met, the Company will issue shares in consideration of the B shares based on the 
average share price of Company over the 60 days prior to the exercise of the put option. The B shares were subscribed for at 
nominal value with the employee settling the applicable tax based on the market value at the date of grant. 

Under the original terms of the Growth Share Scheme, the B Shares allotted to participants would vest in three equal 
tranches, occurring annually, starting on 31 December 2017 until 31 December 2019. Vesting would require 30 per cent 
revenue growth per year, meaning that full vesting would require three-year compound growth of 120 per cent. After 
consultations with participants in the scheme it was extended to 5 years. However, in line with IFRS2, the charges incurred by 
Alpha FX Limited are still recognised over the original three-year period, assuming modification had not occurred.

In March 2018, 390 B Growth Shares were exercised in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 and 565,387 shares in Alpha 
FX Group plc were issued as consideration. Based on share price of the Company of 565p at 31 December 2018, it is estimated 
upon exercise of the put options in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company will issue 567,777 shares.

The share-based payment charge of the B Growth Shares awarded during the year ended 31 December 2018 was £115,385 
(2017: £399,685).

 ro th hare cheme
In October 2018 the Group adopted a C Growth Share Scheme, under which 863 C ordinary shares (“C Shares”) in Alpha FX 
Limited (the “Company”) were issued to full-time employees of the Group (“C Share Growth Scheme”). The C Shares confer 
no upfront economic rights to their holders and in particular holders of the C Shares are not entitled to receive dividends, 
receive notice of, attend, speak or vote at general meetings of the Company and are not entitled rights to participate in any 
distributions upon a liquidation or capital reduction of the Company. 

The C Shares contain a put option, such that, when and to the extent vested, they can be converted into ordinary shares in 
the Group. The rate of conversion is that the C Shares will be regarded as worth a pro rata share of the share price gain of 
Alpha FX Group plc above a hurdle price of 550p based upon the market price of Alpha FX Group plc at the time of allotment.
 
Upon conversion the number of ordinary shares in Alpha FX Group plc, a C Shareholder will receive such number of ordinary 
shares whose value is equivalent to the Group’s closing share price at the conversion date. Conversion is only permitted to 
the extent that the C Shares have vested. The C Shares will vest in five tranches, occurring annually, starting on 31 December 
2018 until 31 December 2022. The first tranche to vest will be equal to ten per cent of the participant’s C Share entitlement and 
thereafter will be equal to 22.5 per cent of the participant’s C Share entitlement over the following four years. A participant may 
choose to roll each tranche of C Shares into the next year provided that no rollover is permitted after the final vesting date (March 
2023). If a participating employee either leaves employment with the Group or commits a performance breach (broadly conduct 
detrimental to the business and reputation of the Group), the Group is entitled to buy back the relevant C Shares at cost. 
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NOTES

AS AT 
31 DECEMBER 2018

£

AS AT 
31 DECEMBER 2017

£

Non-current assets

Investments
Deferred tax asset

4
7

1,346,865
55,130

1,081,302
39,873 

Total non-current assets 1,401,995       1,121,175 

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 5 34,379,941      14,099,337

Current tax asset 34,842 74,204

Cash and cash equivalents 14,949 14,949

Total current assets 34,429,731      14,188,490 

Total assets 35,831,726       15,309,665 

Equity

Share capital 9 73,092 65,524

Share premium account 31,387,853 12,237,951

Capital redemption reserve 3,701 3,701

Merger reserve 666,529 666,529

Retained earnings 3,629,607       2,280,601 

Total equity 35,760,782      15,254,306 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 6 70,944 55,359

Total current liabilities 70,944 55,359

Total equity and liabilities 35,831,726 15,309,665

The Company reported a profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 of £2,820,415 (2017: £2,240,522).

The financial statements of Alpha FX Group plc were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2019 and signed on its 
behalf by:

M  Tillbrook
Director

T C Kidd
Director  

Company Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2018

Company number: 0 2 2 1

24.  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS [CONT.]

Other
In the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group incorporated a new subsidiary undertaking, Alpha FX Institutional Limited 
which is owned 36.8% by the management team. Commencing three years following incorporation, the individuals will have 
the option to convert a percentage of their holding into group shares over a four-year period, based upon strict performance 
criteria. At conversion, and in exchange for converting their shares into the Group, Alpha FX Limited’s shareholding over Alpha 
FX Institutional Limited will commensurately increase.

In the year ended 31 December 2017, an award was made to a Director under an unapproved option agreement of 57,297 
share options at an exercise price of £0.002 per option share which is exercisable between 3 April 2018 and 3 April 2020. The 
fair value of the option granted in the prior year was £82,687 which was calculated using a Black Scholes model. The inputs 
used for fair valuing this award were expected volatility of 25%, a risk-free interest rate of 0.09% and a one-year option life.

The Group recognised total expenses related to the above equity-settled share-based payment transactions in the year ended 
31 December 2018 of £311,864 (2017: £511,332).

The Group operates a number of growth share schemes where shares in subsidiary entities are awarded to employees and 
are converted into shares in the Company at a future date based on pre-determined vesting criteria. The Group obtains 
external tax valuations for all share schemes from an independent third party prior to issue and also obtains indemnities 
from all employees for any future tax liabilities that may arise.

Should the taxable value of these shares be assessed as being higher than the purchase price additional payroll taxes would 
be due. In the first instance, the payroll taxes would be paid by the subsidiary company and the tax indemnities would ensure 
recovery of any additional tax liabilities from the growth shareholders. In the event that taxable value of the growth shares is 
assessed as being higher than the purchase price, the Board has assessed that there would not be a material impact on the 
Group’s net assets or the result for the year.

25.  OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Total minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
31 DECEMBER 

2018
£

31 DECEMBER 
2017

£

Operating lease payment due:

Within one year 1,016,425 678,884

In two to five years 3,952,814           245,179 

More than five years 8,184,330 – 

13,153,569  924,063 

All operating lease commitments relate to non-cancellable lease on the Group’s offices.

26.  ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The Directors believe that there is no ultimate controlling party of the Group.

27.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 19 March 2019 the Company determined that following the vesting of shares under the Growth Share Schemes for the 
year ended 31 December 2018, it would be issuing 576,442 shares on 25 March 2019.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and with Financial Reporting Standard 
100 Application of Financial Reporting Requirements (“FRS 100”) and Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure 
Framework (“FRS 101”).

In preparing these financial statements the Company has taken advantage of all disclosure exemptions conferred by FRS 101. 
Therefore, these financial statements do not include:

 − certain comparative information as otherwise required by EU-endorsed IFRS;
 − certain disclosures regarding the Company’s capital;
 − a statement of cash flows;
 − the effect of future accounting standards not yet adopted;
 − the disclosure of the remuneration of key management personnel; and
 − disclosures of related party transactions with other wholly-owned members of Alpha FX Group plc group of companies.

In addition, and in accordance with FRS 101 financial instrument disclosure exemptions have been adopted because 
equivalent disclosures are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. These financial statements do not 
include certain disclosures in respect of:

 − Share based payments;
 − Financial instruments (other than certain disclosures required as a result of recording financial instruments at fair value); or
 − Fair value measurement other than certain disclosures required as a result of recording financial instruments at fair value.

The financial statements are prepared in pounds sterling which is the functional currency of the Group. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
except as noted below.

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

CALLED 
UP SHARE 

CAPITAL
£

SHARE 
PREMIUM 
ACCOUNT

£

CAPITAL 
REDEMPTION 

RESERVE
£

MERGER 
RESERVE

£

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

£

TOTAL 
EQUITY

£

alance at  anuar  1,118 – 60 666,529 103,918 771,625

Changes in equity

Bonus shares issued 54,782 – – – (54,782) –

Cancellation of shares (3,641) – 3,641 – – –

Shares issued on listing 13,265 12,986,735 – – – 13,000,000

Costs of issue of equity shares – (748,784) – – – (748,784)

Dividend paid – – – – (491,430) (491,430)

Share-based payment – – – – 482,373 482,373 

Total comprehensive income – – – –   2,240,522 2,240,522

Balance at 31 December 2017 65,524 12,237,951 3,701 666,529 2,280,601 15,254,306

Changes in equity

Shares issued on vesting of share option 
scheme

1,131 – – – (1,131) –

Share-based payments – – – – 296,072 296,072

Shares issued on placing 6,437 19,948,895 – – – 19,955,332 

Cost of shares issued on placing –    (798,993) – – – (798,993)

Dividends paid – – – – (1,766,350) (1,766,350)

Total comprehensive income – – – – 2,820,415 2,820,415 

Balance at 31 December 2018 73,092 31,387,853 3,701 666,529 3,629,607 35,760,782

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2018
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8. EMPLOYEE COSTS

The Company did not have any employees during the period (2017: nil). All staff are employees of the subsidiary undertaking.

9. SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are included in note 19 to the consolidated accounts.

3. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

As permitted in section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has elected not to present its own profit and 
loss account for the year. The Company reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 of £2,820,415 
(2017: £2,240,522).

The auditor’s remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

4. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

The Company’s investment in the share capital of Alpha FX Limited is disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

31 DECEMBER 2018 
£

31 DECEMBER 2017  
£

Balance at 1 anuary 1,081,302 681,617 

Share for share exchange 265,563 399,685

Balance at 1 December 1,346,865 1,081,302

The additional investment in the year represents the share-based payment for employees of the subsidiary company.

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

31 DECEMBER 2018 
£

31 DECEMBER 2017  
£

Amount owed by Group undertaking 34,377,570  14,095,547 

Prepayments 2,371 3,790

34,379,941  14,099,337 

During the year, no impairment provisions have been made against any class of debtor.

6. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 DECEMBER 2018 
£

31 DECEMBER 2017  
£

Accruals and deferred income 70,944 55,359

70,944  55,359 

7. DEFERRED TAX

The deferred taxation asset at a tax rate of 17% (2017: 19%) comprises the following:

31 DECEMBER 2018 
£

31 DECEMBER 2017  
£

At 1 anuary 39,873 –

Deferred tax relating to share-based payments 15,257 39,873 

Total deferred tax asset 55,130 39,873

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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LONDON (HEAD OFFICE)
2 Eastbourne Terrace
Paddington, London W2 6LG
+44 (0)20 3800 0120
info@alphafx.co.uk

TORONTO
150 King Street West, Third Floor
Toronto, Ontario M5H 1J9
+1 (437) 370 4366
info@alphafx.ca
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